HISTORY OF DALLAS COUNTY.

SURFACE DESCRIPTION.

Boundary.—The county of Dallas is situated in the south-
west central part of the State of Missouri, on the northern slope
of the Qzark Mountain Range, in latitude 38 north, and longitude
93 and 94 west from Greenwich, England. It is bounded on the
north by Hickory and Camden Counties, on the east by Laclede,
on the south by Webster and Greene, and on the west by Polk
and Hickory Counties. It has an area of 543 square miles, or
347,520 acres.

Topography.—The topography presents some striking feat-
ures. The surface is varied, from level and gently undulating
to rolling, and in the vicinity of the larger streams it is broken
and hilly. There are numerous prairies within the county,
varying in extent from one to fifteen sections of land, the greater
part of them being in the western part thereof. These lands
constitute about one-fourth of the entire ares of the county, the
remainder being timbered. The ridge and table lands are cov-
ered with a light, scrubby growth of several varieties of cak,
while the valley or bottom lands are covered with burr, Spanish
and chinquapin oak, black and white walnut, sycamore, elin,
hickory, ash, cherry, maple, ete.

Prairies.—Of the prairies, Buffalo Head (at the eastern edge
of which is the town of Buffalo)} is the most extensive. It lies
in the west central part of Dallas and the east central part of
Polk County. Fifteen Mile Prairie lies in the extreme north-
ern part of Dallas and the southern part of Hickory County,
and has an area of about sixteen square miles in the former,
Round Prairie, on which the village of Lewisburg is located, lies
in Grant Township, nine miles northwest from Buffalo, and has
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an area of about four square miles. Lead Mine Prairio lies in
Biller Pownship, in the northeastern part of the ecounty, and
contains ashout fonr sections of land. Four Mile Prairie lies a
few miles north of Buffalo, in Grant and Benton Towuships, and
comprises about fifteen sections of land. DBeckner Prairie, com-
prising between one and two sections of land, lies on the YLeba-
non rond, about twelve miles east of Buffalo. O’Bannon Prairie
lies in the sonth central portion of the eounty, and has an area
of abont fifteen sections of land. High DPrairvie lics in the
southwestern part of the county, and consists of nearly four see-
tions of land. There 1s also a small prairie in the extreme
southeastern corner of the county, and a number of others ave
seattered throughout the county, all of which are estimated to
comprise about one-fourthof its avea.

Soil.—The soil of the prairies and the bottoms along the
streams are rich and eseeedingly fertile; the former is composed
mostly of vegetable mould, and the latter of vegetabla mould and
alluvial deposits, and both have a ¢lay subsoil.  The next soil in
quality is on the timbered uwplands, where the largest timber
grows, aud the poorest soil is found on what is commonly ealled
the *“ post cak flats.” This latter soil has an ashen hue, and is
said to be well adapted to the production of the finest grades of
tobacco, but not equal fo the other soils in the production of
grain.

Produclions.—In general the agrieultuval productions of the
county ave corn, wheat, oats, rye, sorghum, potatoes, all kinds of
vegetables, the grasses and tobacco. A little cotton is also
raised, Dallas County, on account of its altitude and mild ecli-
mate, is well adapted to the cultivation of all the fruits common
to this latitude.

Drainage.—The county is drained by the Big aud Little
Niangua Rivers and their tribntaries, and Linley Creck, the latter
emptying into the Pome-de-Terre River, the waters of all of
which flow to the Osage on the north, and thence to the Missouri
River. The Big Niangua River enters the county from Webster,
on the south, at Section 13, Township 32 north, Range 18 west,
and flows thence northwardly and northiwesterly to the center of
the county; thence eastwardly to within one and a half miles of
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the eastern boundary; thence in a northerly direcfion, crossing
the boundary line six fimes in a disiance of seven miles, and
leaves the county on its northern boundary at Section 2, Town-
ship 36 north, Range 18 west. The waters of this stream flow
toward all points of the compass, on its serpentine and tortuous
route, and in most places along its line the country is extremely
uneven and hilly. The principal tributaries of this river on the
eastern side are Jones and Deusenberry Creeks, the former of
which enters the county from Laclede, on the east, in Section 1,
Township 32 north, Range 18 west, and Hows thence in a west-
erly direction to its wmouth, and the latter of which also enters
the county from Laclede, and flows thenee in a westerly direction
through the northern part of Waghington Township to its junc-
tion with the main stream. Greasey Creek, the largest tributary
of the Big Niangua on the west side, rises in the sontheastern
part of Township 32 north, Range 20 west, it being in the south-
western part of the county, and flows in a northwesierly, north-
erly and northeasterly direetion, empiying into the main stream
in Section 17, Township 34 north, Bange 19 west, at a poiné
about three miles east-northeast of DBuffalo. Dryant and DMill
Creeks have thoir sonrces, route and outlet in Miller Town-
ship, and are tributaries of the Big Niangua on its west side.
There arc also many smaller tributaries of this river uot heve
mentioned.

The Little Niangna River rises in the eastern part of Grant
Township, and flows thence in a northeasterly course for a dis-
tance of about five miles, thence in a mnorthwesterly direction,
and leaves the county on its northern boundary, near the north-
east corner of Township 30 north, Range 20 west. It Las several
tributaries, the two largest being on the west side. The west
central part of the county is drained by Linley Creek, which rises
in the southwest corner of the civil fownship of Buffalo, and
flows northwardly to near the northwest corner thereof, and then
turns to the west, and flows through portions of Polk and Hickory
Oounties to its confluence with the Pome-de-Terre River. This
creek has several tributaries in Dallas County. On the whole,
the county is well drained. In all parts of it excellent springs
abounud, the most noted of which is Bennett’s Spring, on Section



496 STATE OF MISSOURIL

1, Township 34 north, Range 18 west, and which, under the im-
pression that it was on the Laclede County side of the line, has
been mentioned in connection with the description of that county.
The quantity of water that flows from this spring would be
ample fo supply either of the cities of Chicago or St Louis.
Next in size is Big Sweet Spring, lower down on the Niangua,
its flow of water being only equal to about one-half as much as
that of Bennett's. Elixir Spring, noted for the medicinal qual-
ities of its water, is situated in the northeastern part of Township
36 north, Range 20 west. Excelsior Spring, also noted for the
medicinal quality of its water, is situated near Jaques {or Jakes)
Creek, in the northern part of Township 35 north, Range 18 west.
Big Black Walnut Spring, the water of which is unexcelled for
its beauty and purity, is found on the northwest quarter of the
southwest quarter of Seetion 15, Township 84 north, Range 1%
west.  Unlike most springs, its supply of water does not materi-
ally change in wet and dry seasons.

Geology.—The geology of Dallas County corresponds very
closely with that of Laclede and Camden Counties—the visible
rock formation being, to all appearances, identically the same.
Being of the magnesian limestone, it is very ecavernous, and
many caves abound within the county, especially in the roclky
bluffs along the larger streams. The most attractive and most
extensive cave within the county is the one kuown as the Mellce
Cave, situated in the bluff on the south side of the Big Niangua,
on the northeast quarter of Section 9, Lownship 34 north, Range
18 weat. The main branch or avenne of this cave Las heen ex-
plored for a distance of about a fourth of a mile, without eoming
to its end. In the cave are found many stalactites, stalagmitfes,
pools of water and other curious natural objecls of great Leauty.
The cave las never been explored to its fnll extent. Amnother
cave, known as the Great Salt Petre Cave, lies on the opposite
side of the Big Niangua, and about a mile below the McKeo Cave.
It is not so attractive or extensive, but tradition says that in an
early day certain perties manufactured counterfeit money in the
cave, meanwhile professing to manufacture saltpetre there, as a
blind {o cover their real occupation—hence the name, Great Salt-
petre Cave. The cave is believed to extend into the bluff about
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300 yards. Though a team can be driven to its mouth, it is well
hidden in the timber and hills. The first of these caves is noted
for its extent and beauty, the latter for its traditional history, as a
hidden workshop of the early counterfeiters of this and adjoining
counties. Many other caves, of smaller dimensions, are found in
the county.

Mounds.—In the comparatively level country, a few miles
southwest from Buffalo, and within plain view of the place, are
three large mound-like hills of considerable elevation, known as
the Blue Mounds. In size they are very extensive, the most western
one, the Brushy Mound, comprising an area of from 200 to 300
acres of land. Thess mounds lie on and near the line between
Dallas and Polk Counties, and ave visible to the naked aye for
many miles from all directions, and from fheir summits an
unlimited view of the surrounding country is obtained.

Mineral Resources.—Lead and zine have been found in gev-
eral places within the county, and while it is believed that these
minerals abound in abundance they have never been developed to
any considerable extent. The IRambo mines, twelve miles north-
east from Buffalo, wers discovered in 1868, and worked for a few
years, and then abandoned. Iron ore has also been discoverad
near Buflalo, and coal Lias been found in different localities, and
building stone is abundant. The county has always heen too far
from lines of transportation fo make it profitable to develop its
mineral resources.

Origin of Names.—Niangua, pronounced by some Ne-on-go,
is from an Indian phrase, “I won’t go away,” or perhaps from his
manner of expressing his objection to go-on, or to on-go, and
leave his native place. Greasey Creek derived its name from the
following cireumstances: When the settlement of the country
began, an old man brought a load of bacon, from the older set-
tlements along the Mississippi, to sell to the setflers heve, and
in crossing the stream his wagon was turned over in the water
and some of the bacon was swept away—hence the name Greasey
Creek. Linley Creek derived its name from the fact that a man
by the name of Linley, who was driving some hogs from near
Boonville, Mo., across the country to sell to the settlers at
Springfield, became “snowed in,” and had to remain in camp
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several days near the stream. Duffalo Head Prairie derives its
name from the fact that about the year 1833, or perhaps a liftle
earlier, Mark Reynolds, grandfather of Mark ¥. Reynolds, the
present proprietor of the Buffalo Nurseries,ffound a stake stand-
ing on one of the Blue Mounds, which had been placed there by
some early settler or hunter, and on this stake he { Beynolds)
placed the skeleton of a buffalo’s head which lay near by. And
from this circumstance he named the prairie * Buffalo Head,”
which vame it still refains, This stake and buffalo head became
a noted land-mark or guide for hunters, travelers and immigrants.
High Prairis was so named on account of the high mound which
stands in its center. Round Prairie was so called beecauss of ita
circular shape. Four Mile and Fifteen Mile Prairies take their
names from the distance traveled in crossing them.

These facts, pertaining to the origin of names, have been
given by Mr. M. L. Reynolds, who asserte that he has *time
and again ™’ heard them related by his grandfather to subsequent
settlers of the county. The facts are also verified by records
in possession of the Reynolds family.

EARLY SETTLEMENT.

First Seftler.—From the best information obtainable it is
evident that Mark Reynolds, father of R, D. Reynolds, deceased,
and grandfather of M. L. Reynolds, proprietor of the Baifalo
Nurseries, was the first settler of the territory now embraced in
Dallas County. 1In the year 1831 Mr, Reynolds moved with his
family from a place near Nashville, Tenn., and settled on & claim
on the Pome-ds-Terre River, some two miles north of the pres-
ent village of Pleasant Hope, in what is now Polk County, Mo.
He lived there one year, then moved onto Buffalo Head Prairie,
and settled and improved a claim northwest of the Blue Mounds,
near A. Shepard's present farm. After living here oue year he
sold bis claim to Bracket Davidson, grandfather of Judge J. H.
Devidson, and moved npon, settled and improved the farm, three
miles west of Buffalo, which afterward became the homestead of
thelate R. D. Reynolds, and which is now known as the Buffalo
Nurseries, owned by M. L. Reynolds. This latter settlement, made
in 1833, was the first one in what is now Dallas County.
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Other Settlers.—In an extended section of country, embracing
what is now Dallas and Polk Counties, only four settlers pre-
ceded Mark Reynolds, and they all settled in the territory of
Polk County, as follows: Bazel Rose, on a place south of Half-
way, at or near where Mr. Redd now lives; William Qwens, on
the sonth side of the prairie, on the Reeves Cowden farm; Robert
Barelay, on the place where Roberi Summers now lives, and
Richard Brown, on the Judge Plummer place, on Hominy Creek.
The first settlers immediately succeeding Mr. Reynolds caunot
now be named in the order of their arrivals, but among them
were the Evans, Randleman and Williams families, from Ken-
tucky. In October, 1837, Richard Wilkinson, Sr., and his fam-
ily, consisting of five song and five daughters, together with the
wives of his sons John and Fzekiel, and his son-in-law, David
Wright, came in wagons from Hocking County, Ohio. The
father settled about three miles west, the sons, John and Ezekiel,
seven miles southwest, and the son-in-law, David Wright, four
miles west-southwest of the present site of Buffalo,

Following is a list of the names and location of nearly all of
the seitlers of the territory of Dallas County upon or soon after
the arrival of the Wilkinson family, in 1837: William E. Will-
iasms lived on the William I. Morrow place, one and a half
miles north of Buffalo. Martin Randleman lived where Richard
Wilkinson, Jr., now lives, in the suburbs of Buffalo, and had
previously built a portion of the house in which Mr. Wilkinson
now resides. DMichael Randleman lived where A. A, Ramsey
now lives, one-half mile north of Buffalo, and Jacob Randle-
msn one mile south, on the Bennett place. The Randlemans
were brothers. John F. Norton lived whers Israel Olinger now
lives, and Joseph Wilcox where William Barnes resides—the
former two and the latter one and a half miles northwest from
Buffalo. William Montgomery and family lived where his son
John now resides, on the Little Niangua, near the north line of
the county. Hardin Paine lived about fourteen miles north and
Frank Wisdom seven miles north of the site of Buffalo. Elijah
Yeager, a pioneer Methodist minister, who preached extensively
to the early settlers, lived on Fifteen Mile Prairie. John Bras-
hear lived on Linley Creek; James Jump siz to eight miles

31
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northwest of the site of Buffalo, and a Mr. Carter on the north-
west corner of Buffalo Head Prairie, Mark Reynolds lived on
the place where he settled, before mentioned. Peter Self and
Eaton Tatum, sons-in-law of Reynolds, both lived in the
same neighborhood, the latter on the place bought of him, and
settled by Richard Wilkinson, Sr. DBracket Davidson lived
seven miles south of Buaffalo, and Dr, Pritehard iu the same
neighborhood.

Grant MeDowell lived on what is now known as the Widow
Johnson place, five or six miles southwest of Buffalo. Chaxles
Davis and brothers lived about fifteen and George W. Atter-
berry twelve miles south of the site of Buffalo. The Jamison
family, Moses Bennett, Nathaniel Wollard (or Woolard}, Will-
iam and Samuel Latimer and Thomas and William Marlin all
lived on the upper Big Niangua.* Thomas and Jacob Riddles
also lived on the Big Nianguna, near the Riddle Mill, about
eight miles southeast of Buffalo. Jesse Engle and Curnelins
Suead lived on the same streamn, about five miles sounthenst of
Buffale. William Gore and Elias Williams lived on Greasy
Creek, southeast of the site of Buflfalo. A brother of the latter
kept a small store where the Williawses settled, about one and a
half miles from Buffalo. Jason Lemmons lived nearly a mile
and Johu Evans two miles south of Buffalo. A Mr. Sweensy
lived on the lower Big Niangua, about five miles from the site
of Buffalo, and Abram Stow still lower down on the river.

Peter Bennetf also lived on the lower Big Niangna, near the
famons Bennett's Spring,  All of the foregoing, as woll as others
whose nameas and location cannot now bhe conveniently obtained,
settled between the time that Teynolds wade the first settle-
ment within the present county lmits and the arrival of the
Wilkinson family, in the fall of 1837, or perhaps a little later,
Nearly all of these settlers, aside from the Wilkinson family and
connections, came from the States of Tennessec and Kentucky.

Later Early Seltlers.—In 1838 enough famwilies to form a
respectable colony followed the Wilkinsons from Ohio, and then
immigrants began to arive from several other Kastern and
Sontheastern States. Among those coming from Ohio were the

#Thut part of the riverseuth of Butfnlo,
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Haines, Cox, Gregg and Vanderford families. Asa Vanderford,
and his father, Eli, in the fall of 1838, settled on the place
where he has ever sines resided, two miles southwest of Buffalo.
In the fall of the same year, or spring of the following, William
Stanley and his family, ineluding his sons, James B., Robert R.
and Albert 8., and his brother, Archibald Stanley, and his family,
came in wagons from Indians, and settled near Buffalo, which
then contained only two little log cabins—one on the east and the
other on the west side of what is now the public square. Also
In 1835 George Davidson came from Maury County, Tenn., and
settletl in that part of the county now known as Benton Town-
ship, and afterward moved to Jackson Township. He wasa
physician, and practiced his profession wutil his death in 1887
In 18385 A, C. Austin and family came from North Carolina, and
settled in what is now Jackson Township, in Dallas County, In
the year 1840 James dJoues came from Sangamon County, I,
and settled on the farm now owned by John L. Jones. The
same year Thomas H. Fullerton and family moved from Polk
County, Mo., to the territory now embraced in Dallas County,
and remained here until his death, which ocowrred in 1862, e
was formerly from Tennessee. Also that year John Haymes came
from Virginia, and settled in that partof the conunty now known
as Washington Township, and afterward moved to Laclede County.
The following year James W. (George and family came from
Teuuecssee, and settled in the same part of the county. In 1842
Robert Cowden and family came from Georgia, and settled on
the farm wlhere his son, William A. Cowden, now lives. In 1540
Daniel Beckner and family came from Virgiuia, and settled neax
the present village of Long Lave. In 1844 William Lovan
and family moved from Teunessee to Greene County, Mo., and
in September, 1847, Le removed with his family to Buffalo,
in Dallas County. e was the father of the Lovan Drothers,
saddle and harness merchants, now of Butfalo,

Many other settlers came in during the forties and ffties,
and at this writing they still continue to come. Dr. John
MeCall, a native of Sonth Caroliva, settled on Four Mile
Prairie in 1831, He has practiced medicine over sixty vears,
and is the oldest physician in Duallas County.
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First Land Enfries.—In general, before the public lands were
surveyed and put into market, the early settlers exercised the
right of squatter sovereignty. A few, however, among whom
were Mark Reynolds, Martin Randleman, James Coyle, David J.
Long, Moses Bennett and Richard Riddles, took up their lands
under the pre-emption law, proved up and paid for them, and had
their fitles confirmed at the land office a few weeks Liefore the
lands became subject to eutry. This makes it appear on the
plat book, on file in the county clerk’s office, that the first land
entries were made in the fall of 1835, The fivst land sales, Liow-
ever, began ai the land office at Springfield, on Juruary 1,
1839, after the paid-up pre-empted lands had been marked on
the public land records as not subject to entry. The *zquatters,”
who improved their lands before it was possible to obtuin titles
to them, were on the alert at the proper time o prevent new
settlers or speculators from entering their lands, and thus is-
possessing them and depriving them of the Lenefit of their ing-
provements. To this end they organized for mutnal protection,
and never allowed one of their number to be dispossessed of the
land on which he had actually settled and made improvements.
Before the land sales opened a number of the © squatters ™ went
to Springfield, so as to be ready at the opening sale to look out
for their own and their neighbors’ rights, and if a man did sne-
ceed in entering a squatter’s claim he was never allowed to oe-
cupy it. The lands lying south of the township line between
Townships 34 and 35 north were subject to enfry at the Spring-
fisld land office, and those north of that line at the Doomville
land office.

To give a more extended list of the first settlers of the county,
the following list of names of individuals who made the first
land entries in the several congressional townships of the county
has been compiled from the records, taking only those who
became actual settlers, and omitting those already mentioned:

Township 31, Range 20—First entries made in 1544, 1845
and 1846, by John Marshall, Benjamin T. Potter, Millberry Rus-
sell, Brannock Wilkinson, Hugh C. Williamson, John M. Don-
nell, David Wilson and Williamson Crawford.

Township 32, Range 18— First entries made from 1546 to
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1857, by James W. Tindle, John S. Barrett, John H. Holloway
and Robert Fulton. '

Township 32, Range 19—First entries made in 1839, by
Andrew Mehafly, Abner H. Henson, George W. Henson, Wiltiam
Richardson and Hiram Patterson; duving the forties, by Ger-
sham B. Jones, Reuben H. Lackey and William Henson; from
1850 to 1857, by Cornelius Gann, Robert O. Randles, William
MecGee. dohn Carter, Robert Highfill, Thomas R. Patterson and
Goalson Step.

Towuship 32, Range 20-—Entries made in 1839 were by
James R. Danforth, Daniel D. Berry, Josiah Smith, Elias
Powell, John N. Jenkins, Henry W. Norton, Benj. Coyle,
Thomas Potter and Johm Alsup; in 1840, by Montgomery E.
Allen and George W, Mallard.  Newrly one-half of all the lands
in this township were entered iu the year 1857,

Township 33, Range L8—1TI'irst eutries, in 1848 and 1849,
were made by Frederick Hull, Asbury Chapman, Willlam Gam-
mon, John Miller and Bdmund Howerton. The most of the
lands in this township have been entered since the Civil War,

Towuship 33, Range 1Y9-—Eniries were made in 1839 by
Samuel W. Evans, Henry Evans and Abner Henson, and other
gettlers already named, and during fhe forties by TLomas
Martin, William Starke, Samuel Gardner, George Hill, Thowas
Hill and William Proctor.

Township 33, Range 20—Entrics were mads in 1839 by
Eli Vanderford, fatlier of Asa Vanderford, Stanley Burnes, Pster
Haines, Jesse Vanderford,” James B. Jones, Samuel Haines,
John Gordon and Daniel D. Berty; in 1840, by Joln Cooksey
and Jesse Hendrickson; in 1848, by William Gregg; in 1349,
by Martin Rice and James W. Gardner.

Township 34, Range 18—The first entry in this township
seems to have been made in 1548, by Abraham Stow; the nextin
1844, by James W. Burton; the next in 1854, by W. B. Newton
and Levi L. Beckner, and the next in 1855, by William W,
Miller. Only a small portion of this township was entered before
the Civil War,

Township 34, Range 19-—The first entries were made in
1845, by William W. Gore and John L. Martin, and in 1543 by
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Isaae Hayes, Pleasant ¢. Dame and Jesse Hendrickson. Only a
few traets were entersd prior to 1850, and fully one-half of all
have been entered since the Civil War. A considerable portion of
the township is still vacant.

Township 34, Range 20—First entries were made in 1839, by
William Franklin, William Adams, Sr., the Paines, Willinmses,
Harrald Dray, S8amuel J. Crawford, Joseph Wileosx, the Randle-
mans and others.

Township 335, Range 18—The Big Niangua traverses the
eastern part of this township. The country is very hilly, and
unsuitable for cultivation except the bottoms along the streams.
The first entries were made along the Big Nianguna in 1550,
More than half the township is yet subject to cntry. A fow
entries were glso made in 1850, in the southwest corner of the
township.

Township 35, Range 19—The fixst entries were made in 18543
and 1844, by the Paines, and from then to 1854 entries were
made by Samuel Farris, Jacob H. Rambo, Abel Richardson,
Alfred B. Maddux, Josiah B. Hayes, Thomas Hayes, William
F. Spillman, John Hatfleld, Dr. John MeCall, Johu B. Jones and
D. Cook.

Township 35, Range 20—First entrics were made in 134}, by
James A. Gillespie, John I Marsh, Samuel Richardson, Sy,
James Marsh, James W. Wisdom, Noah Bray, Solomon Parker,
William 8. Marsh and John M. Marsh; the next, in the forties,
by Lewis Richardson, Lewis H. Marsh, Sterling Linsley, James
P. Munday, George W. Jones, John Ithridge, James Marsh,
John and James Tucker, Mary L. Inks, William Clarke, Snnuel
L. Huffman and William Hughes.

Township 36, Range 18—This township is also traversed by
the Big Niangua; is very hilly and mostly nnsuitable for enltiva-
tion. The first entries were made in 1850, along the river.
Much of the land is yet subject to entry.

Township 36, Range 19—Willinmm Montgomery made the
first entry in 1840, the ounly one made prior to 185(), and a great
many were made during the fifties. There is yet some vacant
land.

Township 86, Range 20—First entries were made in 1840, by
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Joseph Haves, George W. Nelson, Edward Vandever and James
Jones; the mext, in 1541, by Michael Bowers, James Ingles,
Elijah F. Yeager and Jacob Reaser. Other entries weve made
during the forties by Peter Hunt, Peachey K. Snapp and Benj.
I, Hayeos.

Tt raust be rememberad that the date of the entry of land,
except in a few instances, does not correspond with the date of
the purchaser’s settlement in the county, for the reason, as pre-
viously stated, that the first settlers, especially those who settled
in the Springfiald laud district prior to 1839, and those whao set-
tled in the Boonville district prior to 1840, oecupied their lands
several years hefore they beeame snbject to entry, and many sub-
sequent settlors sguatted upon thelr lands, improved and occupied
them for years before thoy were able to puvchase them. Mean-
while they were protocted from speenlators aml * jumpers of
claims” by the combined efforts of the carly settlers. By refer-
ence fo dates, it will be observad that that portion of Dallas
County belonging to the Springfield land district became settled
enrlier anid faster than that portion belonging to the Bunnville
distriet; also that a great many entries were made, for veasonsz
alrendy stated, during the first year after the lands cume into
market, after whicly, for many years, the annual entries were very
few, heing made only in the raiio as the settlements increased.

Whon the firgt seftlers came, they found the country o vast
wilderness, Inhabitad by wild animals and frequented by the
Indians, and in place of roads nothing but Indian trails or paths,
Wild game and wild Loney were abundant. The neavest and
ouly tradiug point was Springfield, whieh was then eomposed of
only one small eountry stove and a blacksmith shop. It is sald
that John Fvans then thonght it uo great hardship to go nearly
to Springfiell to grind his ax, and quite there (thirty.three
miles) to buy a whetstone.

Wild cAnimals and Wild Fowl—When the seftlement of the
territory of Dallas County began, in 1833, it was fall nf certain
wild animals and wild fowl, snch as elk, deer, wolves, pantliers,
catamounts, wildeats, and many other and smaller animals, and
wild turkeys, duck, geese, and the smaller birds common in thisg
latitade. There were also some bears and a few straggling baf-
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faloes. The buffaloes fled to the westward, and soon became
extinet in this part of the country. The bears, not disposed to
flee from their native haunts, remained until finally they have
become practically extinet by extermination. And thongh a war
of extermination has been waged agatust the wolvos and the sav-
aga animals of the cat kind, a few of them still rewain in the
unsettled portions of the country. Some of the smaller animals
still exist in considerable numbers. Of the wild turkeys and
ducks, once so abundant, enougli remain to amuse the hunters
The elk have disappeared, but deer are found {o such an extent
that venison is not considered a very great rarity. In the winter
geason rabbits and quails are the kinds of game now wmostly ace-
quired by the hunters. The native small birds remain in great
numbers.

Tndians.—DBefore the territory eomposing Dallas County was
settled by the whites it was inhabited by the same tribes of
Indians that ocoupied the territory of Laclede, Camden awd other
counties in this portion of the State. Undoer treatios with the
United Siates Government they had abandoned this part of the
counfry before ity seitlement began, but they still continned to
return annually on hunting exeursions for a numbor of years,
much to the annoyance of the settlers, thongh thoy wore not
hostile.  The annoyance consisted of some trifling depredations
committed by the Indians, and the constant fear exereised,
especially by the women and children.

COUNTY ORGANIZATION.

The Act Forming Niangua Conndy.——The original name
under which the county of Dallas was ovganized was Niangua.
It was organized in accordance with an act entitled, “ An act to
organize counties therein named, and define the boundaries
thereof,” approved January 29, 1841, and another act, supple-
mental thereto, approved February 15, 1541,

That part of the first act pertaining to this county reads as
follows:

SectioN 1. All that portion of territory within the following described

limits, viz.: Beginoning at the northenst corner of Greene Countys thence west
along the northern boundary of Greeue Connty to the range line between Ranges
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20 and 21;thence north with said range line to the township lire dividing
Townships 36 and 37; thence cast on satd township line to the range line divid-
jng Ranges 17 and 18; thenec south with said range line to the place of begin-
ning, is bereby created a separate and distinet county, to be called and known
by the name of the couuty of Niangua.

The supplementsl act reads as follows:

SecrioN 1. That an assessor si:all be appointed in ench county erganized at
this session of the Legislature, by the county court of the respective counties,
and said assessora shall not be reguired to make a return of their tax books till
the first day of August next.

Sec. 2. That said county court shall meet on the first Monday of March
next, and at that term of couri, or at some subsequeni term to be holden dur-
ing said month, shall make said appointment. * * * ¥

8EC. 5. ‘Thast the county courts of said counties may respectively appoint
some competent person county surveyor, who ahall continue in office until the
firat Monday of August next, and uatil a surveyor is duly elected and qualified.

Sec. 6. Anelection shall be held for surveyors in said counties on the first
Monday of August next, and the persons clected shall hold thelr office until the
vexi general election for surveyors, and until their successors are duly elected
and gualified.

This act shall take efect from its passage.

Flirst Session of Cownty Courf,—In accordance with the fore-
going, the first county court justices, who weve, according to the
best recollection of surviving old settlers, Thomas Proctoi‘, Peter
Haynes and Thomas Marlan, met on the first Monday of Mareh,
1841, in the log school-houss which stood on the ridge near the
present Buffalo cometery, situated directly east of and adjoining
the town, and there organized the county couri and eompleted
the organization of Dallas County. The early records of the
«county having all been destroyed, it is impossible to give the
action of the county court at its first or subsequent sessions until
the year 1867, since which time the records have been preserved.
One of the first duties of the county court, as shown by the sup-
plemental act aforesaid, was the appointment of an assessor, and
Mark Reynolds was either the first assessor appointed or the
first one elected at the general county election in 1842; in either
.casa, he beld that office eightesn years in succession.

Other business of the county court, transacted at its early
sessions, consisted of acting upon petitions for county roads, ap-
pointing commissioners to view and mark out the routes, estab-
lishing the same and providing for their opening, trapsacting
probate business, levying taxes and superintending the collection
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and disbursements thereof, examining and approving reports of
county officers, ete.

Change of Name.—The name of the county, Niangua, being a
little difficult {o spell and write, thereby giring some tronble in
the transmission of the mails, it became desirable to change
it to a more convenient one. Aceordingly, on application to the
Legislature, it was changed, December 10, 1344, to that of
Dallas, in honor of Viee-President Dallas of the United States.
This was certainly a wise change, for “*Dallas,” though perhaps
not so poetical, is far preferable to “Niangua” for the nawe of a
county, it being mmnch easier to write and pronounce.

Change of Counfy Boundary.—The fixst change of {lie original
houndary lines of the ceunty took place in accordance with the
fitty-fourth section of an act entitled “An act defining the Iimits
of the several counties in this State,” approved Marveh 2%, 1545,
The section reads as follows:

Section 54, Drallus—Beginning at the southeast corner of Sectien 132 Town-
ship 81, Range 15; thenee west to the range Hne between Ranmes 3 and 21,

thenee aortl to the township Yioe dividing Towashipa 36 and 37; thenee eagb Lo
the range line dividivg Ranges 17 and 18; thence soulk to the plice of hewiuning.

This is substantially the same as the original description. but
more definite.  The county boundaries remained the same until
changed in accordance with an act entitled *“An act # ((nfine
the boundaries of Dallas, Webster, Greene, Wright and Ozark
Counties, and for other purpeoses,” approved December 7, 1855.
The act consisted of two sections, the first of whicl reads as
follows:

Secrrow 1. That Dallas County be herealter bounded as follows, viz: Be.
ginning at the southeast corner of Section 13, Township 32 and Runge 18;
thence west to the range line dividing Rapges 19 and 20; thence south 1o the
soutbeast corner of Section 12, in Township 31, Range 20; thenee wesi 1o the
range line dividing Ranges 20 and 21; thence north to the township line divid-
ing Tovwnships 36 and 37; thence east to the range line dividiog Rlanges 17 and
18§; thence south to the place of bepinning.

Uuder this last description the boundaries of the county have
ever since and still remain. The last act only changed the
southern boundary of the county by setting off to Webster
County all that part formerly ineluded in Dallas lying south of
the third tier of sectioms, from the north, in Township 32 and
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Renges 18 and 19. No other changes were made in the bound.
ary as it formerly existed.

There is en impression prevailing that, after the county was
first organized, a strip on the west side thereof, three miles in
width, was set off and attached to Polk County. This, howaver,
was not the ease, for the reason that the act of the Legislature,
creating the county of Niangua, and every subsequent act defin-
ing the boundary between Polk and Dallas Counties, deseribes
it precisely on the samne route as it was described in the original
act ereating Niangua, now Dallas, County. It was the desive of
the people of this portion of the original county of Polk to have
the western line of the new county (Niangua) located three
miles west of where it was actually placed, and finding they
were disappointed, they made a subsequent affort to have the line
moved three miles farther west, but failed in the project.

Municipal Townships.—Immediately alter the county was
organized if was subdivided by the county court into six munici-
pal townships, viz.: Miller, Green, Benton, J asper, Washington
and Jackson, all having the same location as at present, with the
exeeplion of Green, which has since been divided into two town.
ships, named, respectively, Lincoln and Grant. At the May term,
1868, of the county court, the townships of Lincoln and Grant
were formed and deseribed as follows:

Lincoln Township-—Commencing on the county line of Polk
County, on the township line between Townships 85 and 38
thence east to the middle of Range 19; thence north to the
Camden County line; thence west to the northwest corner of the
county; thence south to the place of beginuing. Voting place,
Urbana.

Grant Township—Commencing at the northwest corner of
Section 6, Township 35, Range 20; thence south to the soutl-
west corner of Section 31, Township 85, Rangs 20; theuce east
on the township line to the middle of Range 19; thence north
to the township line dividing Townships 85 and 36; thence west
on said township line to the place of beginning. Voting place,
Louisburg.

At the same time, on account of the records having heen
lost, all the other civil townships of the county were re-bounded,
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and the congressional townships were re-numbered as follows:
No. 1, Township 36, Range 18; No. 2, Township 36, Range 19}
No. 3. Township 36, Range 20; No. 4, Township 85, Range 2i);
No. 5. Township 85, Range 19; No, §, Township 35, Range 15:
No. 7. Township 34, Range 18; No. 8, Township 3., Range 13:
No. 9, Township 34, Range 20; No. 10, Township 33, Range
20 \To 11, Township 33, Range 19; No. 12, Township 33,
Range 18; No. 13, Township 32, Range 18; No. 14, Township
30, Range 20.

The description of the boundary lines of the civil townships
as given on this oceasion, aside from Lincoln and Grant, are
here omitted, for the reason that afterward, on August 4, 1875,
the eounty court established the boundaries of all of these town-
ships as follows:

=l

-1

Miller Township—Commencing at the northeast corner of
Section 1, Township 86, Range 15; thence west to the northwest
corner of Section 3, Township 38, Range 19; thence due south to
the southwest corner of Section 15, Township 35, Range 19;
thence east to the southeast corner of Section 13, Township 35,
Range 18; thence north to the place of beginuing.

Lincoln Township—Commencing at the northeast corner of
Section 4. Township 36, Range 19; thence west to the norfhwest
corner of Section 6, Township 36, Range 2(; thicuce south to the
southwest corner of Section 31, Township 36, Range 20; thence
east to the southeast corner of Section 33, Towunship 36, Range
19: thence north to the place of beginning.

Grant Township-—Commencing at the northeast corner of
Section 4, Township 35, Range 19; thence west to the northwest
corner of Section 6, Township 35, Range 20; thence south to the
southwest corner of Section 31, Township 35, Range 20; thence
east to the southeast corner of Section 33, Township 35, Range
19; thence north to the place of heginning.

Jasper Township—Commencing at the northeast corner of
Section 24, Township 385, Range 18; fhence west to the north-
west corner of Section 22, Township 85, Range 19; thence south
to the southwest corner of Section 3£ Township 34, Range 19;
thence east to the southeast eorner of Section 36, Township 34,
Range 18; thenee north to the place of beginning.
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Benton Township—Commencing at the northeast corner of
Section 4, Township 34, Range 19; thence west to the northwest
corner of Section G, Township 34, Range 20; thenece south to the
southwest corner of Section 18, Township 38, Range 20; thence
east to the southeast corner of Section 186, Township 33, Range
19; thence north to the place of beginning.

Jackson Township—Commencing at the northeast corner of
Section 21, Township 33, Range 19; thence west to the nortlh-
west corner of Section 19, Township 83, Range 20 thence south
to the southwest corner of Section 7, Township 31, Range 20,
thence east to the southeast corner of Section 12, Township 31,
ERange 2{}; thence north to the southwest corner of Section 28,
Township 32, Range 19; thence east to the sontheast corner of
Seetion 16, Township 82, Range 19; thence north to the plaee of
beginning.

Washington Township——Commencing at the northeast corner
of Section 1, vansh:ip 33, Range 18; thence west to the north-
west corner of Scetion 3, Township 33, Range 19: theuce south
to the southwest corner of Section 15, Township 32, Range 19:
thence east to the southeast corner of Section 13, Township 32,
Range 18; thence north to the place of heginuing.

In re-boundiug the municipal townships on this occasion, the
court, in some instances, changed the lines from where they had
formerly and originally existed, but established them just as
they stand at this writing, and the same as they are shown on the
map of Dallas County publisked in 1886 by A. B. Lovan, BEsq.,
of Buffalo.

TFUBLIC BUILDINGS.

Court-House.—~The first court-house in Dallas County was
burilt where the present one stands, in 1846-47, by Levi Beck-
ver. It was a small, two-story brick structure, with the court-
room on the first floor and the county offices on the second, and
continned to be used for court and county purposes until it was
destroyed during the Civil War. During the war period the
lower story of the house was used a part of the time by the
Union Home Guards as a rendezvous and forfress. Qn the 18th
day of October, 1863, a body of Confederate troops entered the
town, surrounded the court-house, captured the inmates and
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burned it to the ground. Some of the records had been or were
then taken out"and saved. The old Methodist Church was then
utilized as the court-house, and it was burned down by unknown
parties on July 80, 1864 A frame business building which
stood on the west side of the public square was afterward occupied
as a court-house unfil September 3, 1807, when it was also hurned
by unknown parties. In the burning of the second house the
vecords were all destroyed, and by some it was suspected that the
Louse was set on fire by certain parties in anticipation of getting
a contract to reproduce information and replace the public
records. It was also conjectured that perhaps this and the last
house were destroyed for the purpose of extinguishing certain
indictments against criminals.

After the last building was destroyed the county court met in
the district school-house in Buffalo, and in Tebruary, 1886, it
appropriated $15,000 for the purpose of building a new court-
house. Scon thereafter a contract was let to A, L. Dye for the
construction of the building, for the sum of $16,500, and a sub-
sequent contract was made with him for the construetion of a
cupola thereon, for an additional $1,000.  This house, which is
the present court-house, was erected by the contractor mentioned,
in 1868-69. It was designed by Dr. I. Hovey, who was the
county superintendent of public buildings at that time. It is a
substantial brick building, set wpon a rock foundation, 4-x60
feet in size, two stories in height, and a Lhandsome cupola in the
center on the top. The first story contains the connty offices, hall
aud stairs, and the second the court and juvy rooms and stairs to
the eupola. The offices are supplied with fire-proof vaults for
the public records, and the whole building has a modern archi-
tectural appearance. A grand view of the swrrounding country
is obtained from the cupola.

Juil.—The first and present county jail was built 1n the win-
ter of 18312 and 1543 by Caleb Williams, at a cost to the couuty
of about 3404 It has two walls, made of square timbers one
foot in thickness, the timbers lying in a horizoental position, and
a space of several inches between these walls is filled with
rocks firmly pounded in. The ficor and ceiling is also made of
squered timbers, the surface of which, together with the interior
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surface of the walls, is lined with planks, and the planks ave
driven full of nails—a very substantial jail, though it is cheap
and old-fashioned. It stands near the northwest corner of the
public square. These constitute all the public buildings of the
county, no poor Louse having ever besn erscted, the paupers
Laving always been cared for by appropriations from the county
treasury. Mv. Asa Vanderford, who is living at this writing
near Buffalo, assisted in the construction of the jail.

PUBLIC LANDS,

French and Spanish Possession.—After certain discoveries
had been made by French and Spanish esplorers, Robert de La
Salle, in April, 1632, took formal possession of the conntry along
the Mississippi River, in the name of Louis XIV, the reiguing
king of France, in whose honor he named it Louisiana. This
reglon thus acquired by the Fremeh embraced tervitory on hoth
sides of the Mississippi, and, comprising rather indefinite Nmits,
inclucled the preseut States of Lonisiana, Mississip)t, Tennessee,
Arkansas and Missouri.  France coutinued in possession of this
territory until the 30 of Novewber, 1762, when she cedod to Spain
all that portion of it lying west of the Mississippi, and to Great
Britain all that portion lying east thereof. Spain, however, did
not take actnal possession of her part of the territory until Aun-
gust 27, 1760, when Count PRiley landed nt New Ovleans with
an armed foree and tools formal possession.  That part of Lounis-
iana lyiug wost of the Mississippi then remained under the con-
trol of Spain until i801, when it was retroceded by Spain to
T'rance, and in December, 1803, it was purchased of Frauce by
the United States. Hence long before the settlement of the ter-
ritory of Dallas County began the ownership of the lands com-
posing if vested in the United States.

Classificaltion.—The lands have been classified as Congress,
school, swamp or overflowed, agricultural college and railroad.
The Congress lands, comprising the great bulk of all the lands,
are those made subject o entry at the United States land otlices,
and are patented directly by the General Goverment tothe indi-
vidual purchasers. The school lands consist of the sixteenth
section, or its equivalent, of every congressional townslip, the
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same having been donated by the General Governmeut tothe
State, to be sold by the State, the proceeds arising therefrom to
constitute a perpetual or permanent fund, to be loaned for the
benefit or support of common free schools, the interest thereon
only to be appropriated. The swamp or overflowed lands are
those selected and conveyed by the United States to the State,
under an act of Congress passed September 28, 1550, the
same to be sold by the SBtate, and the proceeds therefrom to be
used in constructing levees and drains for the purpose of re-
claiming them, and the balance, if any, to be used for other pur-
poses. The agricultural college lands are those donated by
Congress to the Siate for the purpose of maintaining the State
Agricultural College. The railroad lands are those which were
granted, in 1854, by Congress io the Atlantic & Dacific Rail-
road Company to assist it in the construction of its road. These
lands consisted of all the lands in the alternate sections in each
congressional township, not previously entered, within « speel-
fied distance from the line of the railroad.

School Leands.—According to an abstract of the sales of the
school lands in Dallas County, dated April 15, 1856, and certi-
fied to the county court by Robert MeCulloch, register ol lands
of the State of Missouri, the following numbers of acres had
been sold up to that date in each congressioual township:

Township 22, Range T ... i oo A0 notes.
Township 32, Range 310 ... ..o oo oL BED AeTes.
Towpship 82, Range 30, ... oo oo U020 acres,
Township 33, Rapge 18, ..ot oL G0 agres,
Township 38, Range 10..... ..o e 240 neres,
Township 33, Range 20............. . oo o o0 520 neTes,
Township 34, Range 18...... ... veoiiien .. Sl acres,
Township 84, Range 19, ... ..o o Lo LL T0D eTES.
Township 24, Range 20... ... .o D20 aeres.
Township 39, Range 18. .. ... i ool

Township 33, Range 190, ... .. o0 o oo L. B0 acres,
Toweship 33, Rapge 200, ..o 520 acres.
Township 36, Range 18, .. ..o 40 aervs.
Township 86, Runge 19 ... oo in i a oo oo 360 acTes,
Township 36, Range 20, ... ... o 440 acTes,

A fow traets of school lands have been sold since the date of
the above abstract, but have not yet been patented to the pur-



HISTORY OF DALLAS COUNTY. 515

chasers, and will not be unfil final and full payment of the pur-
chase money shall be made.

Swamp or Overflowed Lands.—Aceording to an act of the
Genaral Assembly of the State of Missouri, entitled * An act in
relation to the Swamp and Overflowed Lands,” approved March
10, 1869, the swamp and overflowed lands within the boundary
of Dallas County have been conveyed by the State to the county.
Two patent deeds for these lands have been issued, the first one
having been execated on the part of the State September 11,
1869, by Gov. Joseph W. MeClurg, attested by Francis Rodman,
secretary of State, and Joseph H. McGee, ragister of lands. By
this patent the following number of acres in each congressional
township were couveyed to the connty:

Township 23, Rance 15, ..o oo el L416.18 aeres,
Township 33, Range 18 ..o coens 9300 eres.
Towaship 34, Range I8 oo oo L3BR 0L aeres.
Township 32, Range 19, ..o v i, 1,566.L.57 weres.
Township 33, Mange 19, .. ... ..o o, 020 40 ueres,
Tomnship 34, Range 19, 0000000 oo L L neres,
Pownship 31, Range 30, o oo oL 454836 ueres.
Township 32, Range 20....... .. .. P 244700 wores.
Tawoship 33, Range 200 ... .. . ..o oL, 1,208.60 acres,
Township 34, Wange 200 ... oo GERTE neres
Township 35, Range 18,0 ... oo oL L0E001G aeres.
Towpslip 36, RWange 18, . oL 1,448 07 ucres.
Townahip 83, Range 19 .00 L A0 aeres.
Towoship 36, Range 19 .. .o oL, D454 acres,
Township 33 Ranee 200000 i o, 106,00 neres,
Township 86, Range 20 ... ..ol ST weres.

AFULLEALC. .o iiev i 16,021,40 Beves,

The second patent was executed on the part of the State
Febrnary 13, 1588, by Gov. Albert P. Morehouse, attested by
Michael G. McGrath, secretary of State, and Robert MeCulloch,
register of lands, This patent conveyed lands in the townships
as follows:

Township 85 Range 20 ... Lo, 2,073.04 acres,
Township 86, Range 20........ ... .. oLl 6060 acres.
Agaregnlf. o 2.675.64 acres.
Grand toly) conveyed by both patents. .. ... 15,085.03 acres.

Two selections of swamp lands in Dallas County were made, the

32
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first being recognized by the county and State, but not by the Gen-
eral Government. The second selection was recognized and con-
firmed to the State by the General Government. Meanwhile the
county has sold several tracts included in the first selection, but not
included in the patents from the United States, the original owner.
This has led to a conflict of titles, which may yet be adjusted by
obtaining from the Government a patent for the disputed tracts.
By a little stretch of conscience, coupled witl: a grasping dispo-
sition on the part of those selecting the swamp lands, the tracts
selected were generally of good quality—so good that it required
no part of the funds arising from their sales to reelaim them and
render them fit for cultivation—that being the object lor which
they were donated by the General Goverument. After paying
the espenses of making the selection of the lands and seenring
their confirmation, the county has turned the proceeds arising
trom their sales over to the school fund.

The Agricultural College Lands have been used for the pur-
pose for which they were donated. According te Campbell’s
Gazetteer of Missouri the Atlantic & Pacific Railroad Company
had in 1875 about 12,000 acres of land in Dallas County, a por-
tion of which has since been sold, and & portion ol which still
remains for sale, cheap, and on easy terms, by the St. Lonis &
San Francisco Railroad Company, successor to the Atlantic &
Pacific Railroad Company.

AGRICULTURE, LIVE STOCEK, STATISTICS, E1C,

According to the United States census for the year 1830,
Dallas County contained 1,414 farms and 067,001 aeres of im-
proved lands.* The value of the farms, including land, fences
and buildings, was given at $1,079,713; the farm improvements
at $61,948; the live stock at $859,016: the cost of building and
repairing fences at §15,813, and the estimated value of all farm
produetions, for the year 1879, at $306,076. The vegetable pro-
ductions for the year 15879 were given as follows: Indian corn,
728,040 bushels; oats, 116,914 hushels; wheat, 82,690 bushels;
rye, 817 bushels; buckwheat, 142 bushels; hay, 2,454 tons; Irish

*Compariog the nunsber of acres of improved lands with the whole area of the county, 347,320
acres, showa that less than 20 per cent, was improved in 18:0.
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potatoes, 14,219 bushels; sweet potatoes, 8,697 bushols; tobacco,
11,219 pounds.

The following table shows the number of Lead of live stock
in Dallas County, as given in the census reports of 1880, and as
enumerated for taxation in 1889;

1880, 1838,
Horses. . ... i 4,005 5,435
Mules amd asses. ... .. 1,041 1,404
Neat eatle. ... on L D053 16,775
BhECD. .o o e 11,604 8,149
Hogs. oo e 34,795 15,788

The number of pounds of wool produced in 1880 was 35, 204,
but there are no statistics to show the aggregate amount pro-
duced in 1889; it must, however, be much less. The increase
in the number of horses, mules and cattle has Deen very good,
especially in eattle, but this cannot be said of sheep and hogs,
The decrease in hogs can be explained—ithe pamber shown in
1880 included all raised, slanghtered, sold and on hand Jduring
the year preceding the taking of the census, while the number
shown in 1589 includes ouly those on hand at the time of taking
the enumeration of property for taxation. This G‘.\[)l&ﬂ'ltl()]_‘lr
Lowever, is not applicable to the sheep, for the sheep were uot
raised for slanghter, nor for sale in general, but tor the prodac-
tion of wool, so there was a large actual decrease in the number
of the sheep raised, the cause of which the reader is laft to con-
lecture. It will be interesting, especially to the farmers, to com-
pare the foregoing figures with those of the census of 1890, when
it shall be published.

Horliculture. —While Dallas County has equal facilities with
other counties on the Ozark Range for the cultivation of fruits,
its horticultural interests hiave never been developed to any coh-
siderable extent, for the reason that its facilities for transportation
have not been equal to counties having railroads passing through
them. Hecently many farmers, in antieipation of a railroad in
the near future, have planted extensive orchards, ranging from
100 to 500 apple trees, and other kinds of fruit in proportion,
No doubt the time will soon come when the cultivation of fruit in
Dallas County will he very profitable, as nearly all kinds can be
grown to perfection and in great quantities.
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The Buffalo Nurseries, situated three miles west of Buitalo,
in Dallas County, were established in 1857 by Robert D.
Reynolds, father of M. L. Reynolds, the present proprietor. The
ladter afterward became associated with his father as a partner in
the business, and finally purchased his father's interest and
became sole proprietor. Mr. Reynolds has 120 scres covered
with fruit and ornamental trees, shrubs, plants, voses, ete. He
cultivates the frees of the Ieading varieties of all kinds of fruit
that sueceed best in this climate. Having had long experience
in the business, he is well posted as to the kinds of Huit that
thrive best, and can be relied upon to give correct and valuable
information on the subject of horticnlture. He publishes .n
illustrated deseriptive catalogue of fruit and ornamental frecs,
grape-vines, small fruits, shrubs, plants, ete., which countains a
vast amount of valnable information pertaining to the eultivation
of trees, and which ought to be possessed by every amatenr horti-
culturist, and whick will be mailed to them upon applieation.
Mr. Beynolds has also a greenhouse in conmnection with his
nursery. The Buffalo Nurseries are among the leading iudustries
of Dallas County. The proprietor gives employment to a lavge
number of bands the whole year round.

Famr Associations.—About the year 1870 the Dallas Connty
Agricultural and Mechanical Association was organized. It pur-
chased fifteen acres of land, being a part of the present Lair
grounds, which are located about three-fourths of a2 mile west
southwest of the court-house in Buffalo, and after hokling o fow
annual exhibitions thereon, failed finanecially and Lecawe defunct

The Dallas County Fair Association was organized in August,
1883, as a joint stock company, with a eapital stock of 3750,
which has since been about doubled. " This association honght
the fifteen acres which were purchased by the former association,
together with five acres more, so that the grounds now cousist of
twenty acres, which are fitted up with a floral hall, amphitheater,
stables and pens for stock, and a good half-mile race course.
The association held its seventh annual fair on the [2th, 13th,
1ith and 15th days of September, 1888, The annual exhibitions
have been good, and self-sustaining financially. The present
officers are: A. A, Ramsey, president; Harry Furth, vice-presi-
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dent; C. F. Johnsen, treasurer; N. J. Wollard, secretary, The
financial condition of the association is good, and annual exhibi-
tlons will continune to be given.

Levwalion.—The assessed valuation of the taxable property of
Dallas County for the year 1580 was as follows: Real estate,
3628,413; personal property, $437,835; total, $1,065,748, while
for the year 1583 it was assessed as follows: Beal estate, 8878,
(995 personal property, $00%,023; total, $1,574,792, thus making
a gain, from 1880 to 1888, of §248,286 in veal and of $260,688
in personal property, or a total gaiu of $304,974  This shows a
very rapid increase of the taxable wealth of the eounty.

The abstract of taxes charged on the hooks for 1898, not
ineluding the school taxes, are as tollows: State vevenue, §3,149..
38: State iutervest tax, $3,140.38; county tax, §7,882.51; voad
tax, S308.98; total, $14,990.20,  To ascertain the whole amount
charpad, the school taxes must be added to this amount.

Poprlation~=The population of Dallas County, includiug
both white and colored, as given by the several census reports of
the Uunited States, beginning with the year 1850, is as follows,
to wit: 1850, 3,648; 1860, 5,502 1870, §333; 1,850, 4903,
According to these lignres tho incroaze in the popnlation from
1530 to 1RGO was 3,24E or a little over 61 per cent.; from 18650
to 1870 it was 200, or a little over 2 per cent., and from
L1870 s 1550 1t was 880, or only abont 101 per cent.  The rapid
increase in the first decade, from 1850 to 1564, was caused
prineipally by immigration, as was also the increase for tle
second deeade.  The small inerease for the thivd deeade shows
that the immigration for that period must have been light, or
thatl the exodus from the connby must have hsen large. Tor the
present decade the immigration has been on the inerease, so that
it is zafe to estimate the population of the eounty at this writing
{(Febroary, 1889 at 10,200, The population of each wunicipal
township in the year 830 was as follows: Benton, 2,854; Grant,
963; Jackson, LG92; Jasper, 902; Lineoln, 994: Miller, 674,
Washington, 1,045 total 0,268, The colored poputation in 1560,
nearly nll of whom were slaves, was 1155 that of 1870 was 3, a
decrease in the ten years of 26, The colored popnlation in 1580
was Just the same as that of 187D, neither inereasing nor
decreasing.
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RAILROAD AND RAILROAD BONDS.

In 1869 a company, known as the Laclede & Fort Scott
Railroad Company, proposed to build a railway from Lebanon, in
Laclede County, Mo., via Buffalo, in Dallas County, to Fort
Scott, in Kansas, on condition that the counties along and on the
proposed route should subscribe liberally to the eapital stock of
the company. Accordingly, the county court of Dallas County,
on the 5th of Aungust, 1869, being anxiouns to encourage the en-
terprise, and to secure the railroad, with all its consequent advan-
tages, and being prompted by many of the citizen tax payers of
the county, took such action in the premises as will appear by the
following entry spread upon the record of their proceedings on
this oceasion:

It is ordered by the courtthat $150,000 be and the same iz herehy subsoribed
to the capital stock of ihe Lactede & Fori Seott Bailroad Company. for and
on behalf and for the nse aud benefit of said counly of Dallus, upen the follow-
ing express conditions:

1. Thesald county of Dallazsshall izsue 150 boneds, each inihe sum ol F10H),
having twenty years to run, and be payable in twenily years. llowever, rusery-
ing the right of redemption of any or all of sail bonds Aoy ilme aller ten years
from the date, and bearing 7 per cent. infercst per annwn, which interest
ghall be paid semi-annually, and said interest to be made payable iu the city of
New York or Boston, at such place as may be hercafter agreed upon.

2. That said bonds shall not be issued or delivered uniil sucl Lime us suid
railroad bed or grading shall be completed {rom Fort Scotl, v the Blade of Kan-
sas, to the wesiern line or boundary of said county of Dallas, ready o receive
the cross ties, or that said railroad bed or grading shall be completed From the
point where said road intersects the main line of the southwestern branch of the
Pacific Railroad, to the enstern line or houndary of said county of Dallag, ready
to receive the cross ties.

3. That the proeceeds of said bonds shall be expended only in the eonstrie-
tion of said railroad within the limits of said Dailas County, aud said roml shall
run throuch said connty and within one-half mile of the court-liouss, and there
shall be a passenger and frcight depot built and kept within one-hall mile of
said court-house, in the town of Buffale and county of Duallas.

4, The said railroad company, as the agent of said Dallus County, sbhull ne-
gotiate amd comtract to sell said bonds to the very best advantage that the
market will allow, with the express understanding thal said Dallas County shail
pay said railroad company uo percentage as commission on said sales, and nonc
of the costs and expenses incurred in securing and negotiating suid sales.

5. The said county court will hereafier appoeint an agent, to be known
as the county railroad agent, who shall file a hond in the sum of $200 000
before be preceeds to discharge any duties whatever, which said beond shall
be conditioned that he shall faithfully discharge his duties as before men-
rioned, and any further duties that said courtshall impose upon him. Oae
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of his duties, after the filing of said bowd, and the approval of the same, and
after said county bonds ure negotiated and sokl by suid railrosd company. shall
be to take the county bouds to the place where pegotiated nnd sold, and deliver
them Lo the purchaser, and receive the money anil proceeds therefor; and an-
other of his dutics shall be to pay to sald railroad company one-fourth of the
proceeds of sald sules when said raileoad company shall have fully completed
the suid ratlroud bed or grading (o cither the western or castern line or Loundary
of Dallas County, as above specified; and anothier one-fourth of the proceeds
of sald saiecs when said railroad company shall Lave fully completed the said
railroad bed or grading one-fourth of the distance rongh gaid Dallas County,
and anather one-foarth of the proceeds of said sales when said railtoal company
ghall have folly completed ibe sald railrond bed or grading two-fourths of 1lhe
distance thrrough said county, aml the vther and last one-fourtl of 1he proceeds
of =ald sales when =aid railrowd company shall Lave fully completed the said
road bed or grading three-fonrrtbs of the way throngh said county,

6. When the waid railvow! county agent pays to said railroud compuny
each installment ag nforesaid, thal is, one-fourth of the proceeds of the sales of
said bonds, then it shall be the duty of the raitroad company. at the time it re-
ceives suid payments, or quarterly instullments, to issue to and o [evor of the
said county of Dullay, ceriificates of stock of sald company. 1o the amonni of
($37.500) thirly -scven thousand Ave hundred dollars, heing the full amount of
oue-fonrth of sald bonds, I being fully and expressly understood that when the
said ratlroad company has recetved the full anwund of said procesds of said
sales of sabd bonds, the said Dallas County is Lo receive from said eailrosd comn-
pany cerlifieates of stock, in all ro L ameunt of (R150000 one kuwdred and
fifty thousand dollars, the full amount of said bonds.

7. And the sabdl coundy of Dallas reserves the vight, ehat in ease 1his prop-
osition shall nok be aceepted by the Leelede & Fort Seowt Railrowd Conpany
within three yoenrs, then the conntly of Dallas may witldrasy e above subserip-
tion of ane hundrved and Gty thowsand dollars (F150,0000 from said railread com-
pany, without any liability to sald company, person or persons wlisgever,

Afterward, on the 5th day of April, 1870, upon application
of the president and directors of the railroad company, the conrt
modified the foragning order to some extent, as appears by the
following euntry then made upon the record of its proceelings:

S

It is therefore ordered by the eourl that G, . O Baanon be and Le is hereby
appointed agent of this county, whose duty it shall be to have said bowls litho-
graphed and prepared for the signatures of the officers of Ure court, and to gast
the vote of said county for directors in said company, and to take clurge of
suck other interests of saild county in said railroad as may e proper and a2 may
be recquired by the court.

A it is further ordered that said bonds shall only e exeeuted and ile-
livered to siid railrond company for work actually done on suid tomd in Dallas
County, upun the estimates of (he clicf engineer and upproval of the president
of said road, and the order of said urent, whose duty it shail be ro deliver said
bonds to the order of the president of sakl road. taking receipls therelur, as il
sime may be needed to pay for said work as the same progresses in Dallus
County.
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It was further ordered by the cowrt that G. . ('Baunnoun, the
agent appointed for the county, should give bond in the sum of
$10,000, conditioned for the faithful performance of his duties,
and that the bouds should not be executed and used in the con-
struction of the road bed in Dallas Conuty nntil the county of
Laclede should issue her bonds, and that the bouds of the connty
of Dallas should only be expended in proportion, in the con-
struction of the road in Dallas County, to the issuc of the bunds
of Laclede County, as one is to two, fill alfter the bouds of
Laclede County were expended in the construction of the road
bed in Laclede County; that is, that for everv $2 expeuded in
Laclede County only 31 should be expendal in Dallas County.
until the whole of the Laclede County bonds shonld be ex-
pended.

On the 18th of May following the court ordered that whun-
ever the railroad company should ecomply with the foregoing
propositions and orders, the presiding justice awd clerk of the
court should have aunthority, in vacation, to sign and (laliver to
the county agent the necessary amonut of bouls. Sonow there-
after the couditions were accepted on the part of the railroad
company, and the bonds were execnted aud issued, and delivered
from time to time upon estimates as the grading of the rond
bed progressel.  In the fall of 1570 Matthew Pare was appointed
county agent to succead G. W. O'Bannon, and on the Isth day
of the following May he reported to the court that np to that
time bonds Lad been deliveved, upon estimates by the clef
engineer of the road of the amount of work exeented, snflicient
to purchase 740 shaves of railroal stock, and that cortificutes of
stock for the sane had been issued to the county.

Additimal Subseription.—On the 1Sth day of May, 1871,
the county eourt being then compesed of Justices J. I Guwwon,
W. K. Jump and Nathan White, made a further sabscrintiou to
the capital stock of the railvoad company, as fully appears by the
following entry, which was then spread upou the record of their
proceedings:

It baving been satisfactorily slown to this court, by the proper estinules,

thata (urther subscription to the capital stnek of suid cowpany, of the sum of
883,000, is necessary to compicte the gradieg, musoury and bridring of said
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zoad bed, soas to lave the same ready for the ties, within the limits of Dallas
County, and it furtber sppearing, by the request of nemerous tax payers of sabi
county. that 4 farther subscription to the said eapital stock of said Laelede &
Fort Seort Railroad Company, is recommended, it s therefore ordered by this
court that the countiy of Dallus, in the Btate of Missouri, subseribe to the cupi-
tal stock ol snid railroad company the sunt of $85,000 s an addilional sub-
seription to that lerctofore made, and that said sum is hereby so subscribed,
subjeet to the following conditions and reservations, Lo wit:

1. Fhai the bonds of Dallas County be issred, in payment of the afore-
said subseription, of the denemination of $1,000 each, to Tun fifteen years, aul
Lo bear intevest al the rate of 14 per cent. per annum, pavable semi-nnnualtly, on
the fivst day of January and July in caclh year, and the sald bonds and the
conpons attached thereto shall desiguate when eich is mode payable and the
arnopunt thereof.  The Lody of the bonds and the coupons thercon shall he
sigied by the presiding justice of the eounty court of said county, aud be
attested by the connty elerk and seal of said cowrt (and cach coupnn shall hear
the avlogreaph of spid presiding fustice and county elerk, neatly printed or
stereolypedy,

20 waid bonds shall not be lsned nor delivered until this court have satis-
Taetors cvidenee that the connty of Laclede has made ample provisions for ihe
completion of  (he rowd bed in swid county of Laclede, nor udil same alle
aned veliable company shall Lave agreed and bound itself to cquip said road;
that is, tie, iron and put on the necessary rolling stoek; nor until all contracls
mebe by the said railrond compuny with {he present contrnetor, to wik, Bdwird
Burgess, be anralled. g inolly terminated and soelaside, so far as the work in
Dullas Corndy is concerned.

Other conditions followed in the order, providing for the
appointment of o finaneial agent to negotiate for the sule of the
boids in the Bastern markets, and providing restrictions similar
to those n the owier making the original subseription of
S15H. 00,

Justice Nathan White dissented, and objected to the making
of the foregeing vrder, and entered his protost jn the following

)
wonrls:

I feel thnt it wonld be Jdoing injustice o wyself did 1 not enter wpor the
recnrt my digsend and protest to the above action of the court, [namatler of the
mirenitmle of e wbove, ot only 08 1o the amount juvelved, Dt t the genera)
interest ol the enmmunity, T do not feel that the eonrl, qeling as ministerial
officers, should et withont {ivst ascertaining the will of he peaple. T do net
wWish 1o binpose my peeuline views upos the eourd as to e propricly or impro-
pricty of the action of (e mujority. Dol certalnly it does appear to me, thal in
a matter of Whig kind, soalivecdy allectinge the inost substantiad interest of the
people, wherein their linnnelal wonl or woe s so direetly involvedl, ol involving
constderations ol 1he mozt inportsnt ag well as of {he mest eomplex characier,
far beyond iy ability to fathom, swk o which the dntellizence anl capital
affecled by the action is so mueh divided, it behooves this court t paase und
well eonsider befure they talie action. We who compose Lhis conrt, chosen
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from among the people fo transact such ordinary business as is liable to come
before it, are not so farsuperior to the majority of our fellow citizens in financial
skill and ability {especially when a larze majority hiave alveady entered their
protest to the propesed action of this court) as to set their protest at deflance
and act directly contrary thereto. DBut it certainly well behooves us to give all
the light we can on the matter in hand, and heed, as 1 feel we are morally bonnd to
do, the voice of the people, and afford them un opporiunity to legally and regu-
larly express thetr will. A discussion pro and con before the people could not
fail to give lizht upon the subject, and the interest involved would insure jm-
partial hearing, and I, for my pari, am unwilling Lo make any order without their
consent.

On the 19th of June, 1871, the court amended several para-
graphs of the order subseribing the $85,000 additional stock—
the amendments being mostly explanatory of the order, and more
fully setting forth the intention of the eourt. On the 1Sth of
December following tiie court ordered the DLonds for the addi-
tional stock to be at once signed and delivered into the hands of
a trustee, as previously provided for. The bonds were issued ac-
cordingly, and were all delivered to purchasers. The first sub-
seription for §150,000, and the second for $85,000, made a total
of ($285,000) two hundred and thirty-five thonsand dollars, for
which the county issned bonds for the parpose of secaring a
railroad. It will be noticed by the propositions that “a road bed
and bridges ready to receive the crossties” was all that was con-
tracted for, with the exception that the bonds for the second anh-
scription were not to be issued until some able and relisble com-
pany should have agreed and bound itself to equip the voad—
that is, tie, iron and put on the necessary rolling stock, cte. The
railroad ecompany, however, managed to secure all the bouds, or
the proceeds therefrom, and did actually grade the road bed,
“yeady for the cross ties,” and erected the bridges, or a part of
them, clear through the county, and then discontinued the
work, so that the people have an enormous debt to pay aud no
“value received ” for it. Only a fewof the bonds have beeu re-
deemed. The indebtedness of the county on account of the
subscriptions of stock to this proposed railroad is now, because
of the accumulated interest and costs of suits that Lave been
brought upon the bonds, more than double the original amount
subscribed.

Proposition to Refund Bonrds.—On the Tth day of Angust,
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1878, the eounty court, acting under an act of the General As-
sembly of the State, entitled *“ An act to authorize counties and
towns to compromise their indebtedness,” approved April 12,
1877, ordered that an election should be held on the 10th day of
September, 1878, for the purpose of submitting to the voters of
the county a proposition to compromise $147,000 of the 7 per
cent. bonds, dated July 1, 1870, with acerued interest and
indgments on past duc eoupons, at a discount of 221
per cent. upon the whole amount, by issuing pew bonds,
bearing 6 per cent. interest, payable in twenty years, and
redesmable at the pleasure of the county affer five years from
date. The election was keld accorlingly, and on the day follow-
ing the county court counted the votes cast, and found the total
number to be 922, and of that number 131 were ecast in favor of
the proposition to compromise the debf, and T91 against it.
This of course defeated the compromise proposition, and left
the original bonds outstanding.

POLITICAL AND OFFICIAL.

To show tlic political aspect of Dallas County from 1848 to
the present time, the number of votes cast thercin for the several
presidential candidates are given, as follows:

1848 —Zachariah Taylor, Whig, 105; Lewis Cuss, Dem., 283,

1852—Winfield Scott, Whig, 102; lFyanklin Pjerce, Dem.,
344

1856—Millard Fillmore, Amer., 132; James Buchanan, Dem.,
454,

1860—8teplen A. Douglas, Dem., 225; Jolm €. Breckin-
ridge, Dem., 172; Jobn Bell, Union, 288; Abraham Lincoln,
Rep., 20.

1864—Abraham Lincoln, Rep., 243; George B. MeClellay,
Dem., 12

1868—U. 8. Grant, Rep., 620; Horatio Seymour, Dew., 194.

1872—U. S. Grant, Rep., 791; Horace Greeley, Dem., 451.

1876—Rutherford B. Hayes, Rep., 761; Samuel J. Tilden,
Dem., 652; Peter Cooper, Greenbacker, 33.

1880—James A. Garfield, Rep., 654; W. 8. Hancock, Dem.,
487; Gen. Weaver, Greenbacker, 555,
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1884—PBlaine and Butler, Tusion, 1,363; Grover Cleveland,
Dem., 687.

ISSS—B.enjamin Harrison, Rep., 1,16%; Grover Cleveland,
Dem., T05; Streater, U. L., 484; Fisk, Prohibitionist, 8.

Last vote by municipal townships:

Harrisop, Cleveland. Streeler.

Miller. .............. 118 a3 14
Lineodn.............. 185 T4 5l
Grant. ...l 147 43 2
Jasper.............o. 141 14 [Hl
Benton............ .. 206 146 12
Washington......... 130 183 a4
Jackson. ... ......... 208 140 51

Total............ 1169 T 1wy

Fisk received eight votes, all from Benton Township.

Vote for Congressmen: 1888—Heard, Dem., 845; Gnuitar,
Rep., 971, 1888—Xeard, Dem., 717; Upton, Iep, 1,174;
Whitaker, U, 1., 484,

Vote for cireuit judge in 1855: Wallace, 1,120 Rechow, 827,

Vote for governor in 1888:  Elbert I Kimball, Rep., 1.177;
D. B. Francis, Dem., 703.

For the county officers elected in 1838 see below.

COUNTY OFIFICELN.

The following is a list of the mames of county ofticers of
Dallas County, with time of service annexed, so fur as dates can
now be aseertained:

Counly Court Justices.——The records of the comnty having
all been destroyed up to and prior to September, ING7, no at-
tempt will be made to name the connty court justices in the order
that they served, or to give the dates of their service prior to
that time. Among them were Thomas Proctor, Peter Hayues,
Thomas Marlan, Jacob Randleman, William Moutgomery, John
Ross, Jesse Hendrickson, George W. Mallard, Daniel Beckuer,
A. H. Henson, James Joues, John I, Marsh and others.

Following is the list of county court justices and judges, with
their dates of serviee, since September, 1867: A, V. I*. Huston,
1867-68; Nathan White and Jobn 8. Brown, 1887-70; G. B.
Gammon, 1888-72; W. K. Jump, 1370-72; Lewis W. Hart and
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Jobhu E. Haynes, 1872-75; A. B. Maddny, 1872-74; John W,
Scott, 1872-8(; J. M. B. Smith and N, J. Wollard, 1878-5(;
John B, Haynes, 1880-82. TFirst District—John H. Davison,
1880-82; John Frankiin, 1882-86; F. Bramwell, 1586-88; W,
H. Buckner, 1888, present incumbent, Second District—IL. W
Hart, 1850-82; J. N. Rescr, 1882-84: James H. Karr, 1854-88,
present incumbent, ve-elected in 1888, Presiding judges—
Tliomas Hutchison, 1882-8G; J. N. Vanderford, 1836, present
incumbent; term rans to 1890,

Cownty Cowrt Clevks.—J. Y. Pnine, 1841-58; J. H. Paine.
1858-61; A, B, Maddux, 1861-70; W. J. Loafwau, 1870-71,;
T. B. Morrow, 1871-77; George T. Edimnisson, 1877-83; J. T.
Pendlleton, present ineumboent, was elected in fall of 1882, and
was re-elected in 188t term expires in 1890,

Clirentt Courl Olevkg—Prior to 1870 the county eourt elerk
was also elerk of the eirenit conrt. Tn 1870 the ofiice of the
clerk of the two courts wus separated, and siunco that time the
cirenit court clerks have Lecn as follows, viz.: John 8. Cammins
to hiis doath in 1573; Albert 8. Stanley, 1873-78: A. . Hollen-
beck, 1875-82; J. I’ O'Bannon, 1852, re-elected in 1856, Present
Inemmbent; term expives in 1850,

Sheriff's.—1t is claimed by some surviving old settlevs that
Arad White was the st shexilf of the conuty, and by others that
William D. Beeler was the first. Do this as it may, there is evi-
dence inexistence that Besler was sheviff in 1542, having eollecied
taxes in that year; however, White may have filled the oflice a few
monthys prior to that time.  Frow best informnation ab hand the
sueeceding sherills, down to the year 1860, were (5. W. Henson,
James B. Jones, Talbert Mayfield, William Davis and Daniel
Lindsey.

Since 1860 the oflico has hesn filled as follows: William Jones,
1860-61; C. McPheters, 186G1-64; Thomas P. Welch, 18G4-8%;
John O'Banpon, 1868-T2; Francis Hale, 1872-74; J. W. Ales-
ander, 1874-78; J. 8. Burns, 1878-82; George Delaplain, 1882
~¥4¢ J. 8. Burns, 1834-56; George Delaplain, 1880-88, present
incumbent, re-elected in 1588,

Assessors.—dJesse Vanderford, 1866-70; J. C. Bennett, 1870~
T4 J. H Karr, 1574-T76; W. J, Vanhorn, 1871-78; A, Bkinper,
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1878-80; W. J. Vanhorn, 1830-82; B. F. Johuson, 1882-84; J.
M. Fowler, 1884-86; James A. Bales, 18586-88; Isaac W. Oshorn,
1888, Of the assessors who served prior to 1866, there were
Mark Reynolds, Thomas Proctor, J. Randles, Daniel Beckner,
and perhaps others. Reynolds, who served for a long period, is
believed to have heen the first one.

Collectors.—From the crganization of the county until the
gear 1872 the sheriff was, by virtue of his office, collector of the
revenues. In 1872 the duties of sheriff and collector were divided,
and the separate office of collector was created, and has been filled
as follows: John O'Bannon, 1872-74; Francis Hale, 1874-80;
Jacob Drake, 1880-84; J. W. Alexander, 1884-86; D. M. Rush,
1886-88; re-elected in 1888,

Treasurers—dJ, H. Paine, 1856-58; W. L. Morrow, 1858-00;
J. W. Gammon, 1860-64; R. Stanley, 1864-70; W. M. Beunett,
1870-72; 1. N. Morrow, 1872-73; G. W, O’Bannon, 1873-78;
M. G. Lovan, 1878-84; John Hendrickson, 1884-56; M. . Lovan,
1886-88; re-elected in 1888,

Representatives in Legislature.~Thomas Martin, 1841-42;
William Edwards, 1842-486; Burrel Jones, 184648 ; Kalo Will-
iams, 1848-50; Lem. Jones, 1850-54; Wash. Henson, 1854--56;
William Edwards, 1856-60; Willlam McBride, 1860-61; James
Southard, 1861-64; D. Brown, 1864-66; James Sontlard, 180606
70; G W, O’Bannon, 1870-7%; J. C. Bldridge, 1872-74; John
Hatfield, 1874-776; James Southard, 1876-7%; M. L. Licynolds,
1878-80; W. L. Morrow, 1880-82; N. J. Wollard, 1882-80;
Amos 8. Smith, 1856-588; William P. Porter, 1855,

THE COURTS.

County Court.—The fivst term of the county court of Niangna
(the original name of Dallas County), was begun and held, as
has already been stated, on the first Monday of March, 1841, It
was then composed of three county court justices, appointed and
commissioned by the governor of the State, to hold their offices
until the first general election tock place after the county was
organized. This court then had original jurisdiction over all
county and probate business, and continued to be composed of
three county court justices until 1847, when, under an act entitled
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“An act to establish a probate court in the county of Dallas,”
approved February 15, 1847, it was changed in accordance with
Section 10, which reads as follows:

Srerion 16, Ilereafter the justices ol the peace of Dullas County. and tlieir
sueccessors in office, or any threc of them, shall be and are herely constitutoed the
county court tnstewl of the fusiices of the county courl, as now prescribed by
law, for the purpose of transacting all business wlich the counly conrt now
transacts. excepting all business and matlers conferred and enjoined upon the
probate court of said county by this act; and they shall iold four werms of sajd
eourt in ench year, and ad the times now fixed by law for holling county courts,
and may Lold special or adjourned terms, and said justices of the peace shall
be exempt [rom serving us jurors or performing mtlitary duty, or working on
rouds.

The law further provided that such court, at the November
term in every year, should make rules and regulations requiring
every Justice of the peace in each municipal township “to attend
at least one term of said court for the next eusuing year ™ nuder
a forfeiture of 80 for failing so to do. The law also provided
that the justices of tho peace, ot a majority of them, should choose
vne of their number to bo president of the court. Thus the
county eourt continued to oxist for o time, and uniil, under a new
law, it was again made to cousist of three county conrt justices,
as originally organized, and thos it continued to be composed
until it was reorganized under the new law of 1877, This lavw,
entitled “An act to provide for a uniform system of county
courts,” approved April 27, 1877, provided that cach county
within the State should be divided into two distriets, s nearly
equal in population as possible without dividing wunicipal
townships, and af the general election in 1851, and every two
years thoreafter, there should be clected in eacl disfrict an asso-
clate Judge of the county court, and that at the general election
in 1882, and every fonr years thereafter, a presiding judge of the
court should be elected at large.

In aceordance with this law the county court, at its Mavch
term, 1878, divided the county into districts, by an order of
which the following is a copy: It is ordered by the court that
the county be districted as follows: That Distriet No. 1 be com-
posed of Jackson, Washington and Jasper Townships, and that
Distriet No. 2 he composed of Benton, Grant, Lincoln and Miller
Townships, for the purpose of electing county judges.” The
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law of 1877 continues in force, and under its provisions the
county court has been and continues to be composed. Prior to
the organization of the present probate court, with the exception
of a short time that s probate court existed under a special law
of 1847, the county court of Dallas County had jurisdiction of
all county and probate business, the former consisting of levying
taxes and superintending the collection and expenditures of the
revenues, and all general eounty business, and the latter of graut-
ing letters of administration and guardianship, settlements of
decedents’ estates, and all general probate business.

Probate Cour{.—The first probate court in Dallas County was
established in accordance with sn act entitled ** An act to estab-
lish a probate eourt in the county of Dallas,” approved Febru-
ary 15, 1847, This aet provided that the first election of 2 pro-
bate judge should take place on the first Monday of August,
1847, and that the judge then elected should hold his oltice for
one year only, and at each subsequent slection, to be held on the
same day at the end of every two years therveafter, beginning on
the first Monday of August, 15848, a probate judge should be
elacted to hold his office for the term of twe years. The law
also provided that there should be four terms of the probute
court held in each year, commencing ou the first Mowdlays of
Mareh, June, September and December. At the first election
held under this law Jesse L. Paine was elected probate judge,
and was probably re-elected in 1848.

Another act of the Legislature, supplementary and explana-
tory of the foregoing, approved March 8, 1849, provided that
the county court of Dallas County might, at any general election,
“open a poll book for and against the operation of this law,” and
if a majority voted against the law, or if a majority at any time
should petition the court to abolish the law, the same should be de-
clared to be inoperative. Under the provisions of the last act here
referred to, the probate court was soon abolished, and the county
courtagain assumed jurisdiction of the probate business. The rec-
ords having been destroyed, no further particulars of the first pro-
bate court of Dallas County can now be given. For many years
prior to the organization of the present probate court, the county
court kept a separate record of the probate business; that is, sepa-
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rate from the record containing the proceedings perfaining to gen-
eral county business. The present probate court was establislied in
1874, the first term thereof having been begun on the first day
of June, of that year, by B. F. McHenry, judge of the court.
Judge McHenry served until the close of 1882, his SUCCessor,
Judge S. B. Roll, having been elected that year. Judge Roll
held his first term, commencing February 26, 1883, and served
until his death, which occurred in October, 1885 ; then John S.
Haymes, the present judge, was appointed to fill the vacancy.
He was elected to the office in Novembor, 1886, His term
expires in 1890.

Circuit Courf.—Dallas County, when originally orgalized, be-
longed to and formed a part of the Seventh Judicial Circuit, ag
will be seen by Section 4 of act entitled “ An act coucerning
courts,” approved February 5, 1841, which reads as follows:

SmcTion 4. The cireuit couris of ibe Seventh Judicial Circnil shall he
holden as follows:

For the county of Kinderlook, on the sccond Mondays of March, July
and November; for the county of Niangus. on Lhe first Thuradays after the
second Mondays of March, July and Novenber; for the county of Poll, on the
third Mondays of March, July and November; for the connty of Bates, on the
fourth Mondays of Mareh, July and November: for the county of Bt Clair, on
the first Mondays alter the fourth Monodays of Mureh, July and November; for
the county of Benton, on the second Mondays atier the fourth Momlays of
Mareh, July and November.

A subsequent act of the Legislature, entitled “An act to fix
time for holding eircuit courts,” approved February 24, 1543,
reduced the number of terms to be held in each of the counties
composing the Seventh Judicial Circuit from three to two, and
provided that the eirenit court in Niangua {Dallas) County should
be held on the third Mondays of March and September of each
year. It also fixed the time for holding the court in the other
counties of the circuit. Another act of the Legislature, entitled
“An act concerning courts in the Seventh Judicial Cireait,”
approved March 8, 1849, in changing the time for holding court
in each of the several counties composing the cireuit, provided
that in the county of Dallas the terms of the court should com-
mence on the second Mondays after the fourth Mondays in March
and September. At this time the cireuit was composed of the
counties of Benton, Hickory, Laclede, Dallas, Polk, Cedar, St.

33
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Clair and Henry. For further particulars pertaining to the
judicial cirenit, and the names of the judges presiding, see
history of Laclede County.

The Dallas County Bor.—The fivst resident lawyers of the
Dallas County bar were “Dock” Williams and William L. Smith,
the latter being also one of the pioneer school-teachers at Butfalo.
They began to practiece soon aiter the county was organized, and
continued until some time during the fifties. Kale Williams and
Burrel . Jones also practiced a few years. The former went
to Culifornia about the year 1550, and soon afterward the latter
returned to Illinois, from whenee he came. James B, MeCall, a
very goold lawyer, was a member of tha bar for afew years before
the Civil War, at the beginning of which he went Soutl:, having
previously come from Alabama. 8. G. Whittlesey, Poter Wilsom,
J. H. Sturgeon and Benjamin F. McHenry all practicel a few
years after the close of the Civil War. Ben. V. Alton was a
recent member of the bar, and served as judge of the civenit from
1883 to 1885,

The members of the bar at this writing are Amos 8, Smith,
Oscar H. Scott, John 8. Haymes, W. G. Robertson, Thomas M.
Brown, William P. Porter, John W. Miller, Levi Bngla, George
I, Edmisson, Albert S. Stanley, W. R. Self, A. . Matthews and
C. A Jameson, The Dbar is sufficiently large in uumbers, and
averages falrly in ability with the bar of other counties of like
size and population.

Criminad Becord —With the exception of the war period,
Dallas Counnty has escaped wuch better from the erime of murder
than many other Missouri couuties. A number of homicides
have taken place within its liwmits, but they are comparalively
few. No maun has ever been comvicted and executed within the
county. A number Leve been prosecuted for eapital crimes, and
some, being found guilty, have been puuished; others have been
acguitied.  Among the most noted cases are the following:

The killing of Blankenship occurred about the year 1853 or
1534, soon after the fown of Baffale had hecn incorporated. A
erowd of men, who were averse to Laving their liberties to drink,
carouse and disturb the pence eurtailed, assembled, as was their
custom, at a grocery, or more properly a “ dram-shop,” on fhe
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east side of the public square in Buffalo, and there raised a
disturbance against the peace and digrity of the incorporation.
This disturbance took place after sunset, and just as it began to
grow dark. Sheriff Talbert Mayfield, who was also marshal of
the town, commanded a number of citizens to assist him in
quelling the disturbance, and, on reaching the place in front of
the dram-shop where the men were carousing, the sheriff was
met by Blankenship, who was on horseback. The latter struck
the sherilf a blow, which brought him to his knees; at this in-
stant John A. Lee, nssistant marshal, fired a shot, and Blanken-
ship fell, or got off his horse, and soon thereafter died from the
effects of his wouwnds. In the fracas, however, the sheriff and
his posse were compelled to fall back, and leave the mob master
of the sitnation. At the next texm of the court Lee was indicted
for the offense of murder in the first degree. On being arraigned
for trial he plead “ not guilty,” and upon application obtained
a change of venue to the circuit court ut Springfield, where he
was finally fried and aequitted.

George Matthews and brother were kitled in 1882, The Mat-
thews family lived ncar the Niangua River, about fwelve miles
nortlieast of Buffalo, and on one oceasion, in the year 1882, Greorge
and lis brother, on returning home from Long Lane, met their
younger brother and one Homer Sharp, who were out huuting,
when the latter two weve token on horseback behind tle former,
and thus together they all proceeded on their way homeward.
Presently shots were fired by parties conecealed in ambusl, and
George Matthews and Lis brother first above mentioned were
killed, and the other two, the younger brother snd Sharp, were
wounded, one of them very severely, but both recovered. The
wounded men fled home und reported the event, and then parties
agssemblad and went back and secured the bodies of the dead men.
Soon afterward an inspection of the premises and surroundings
was made by Sheriff John 8. Burns and others.  Tracks and other
eircumstances were discoverad which led fo the suspicion and
arrest of Berry Keith, Peter Hawk, 1. L. Case and James Ford.
These parties, on charge of committing the erime, were given a
preliminary exawination before a justice of the peace, who
bound them over to await the action of the grand jury at the
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October term of the circuit court; but the evidence produced
to the grand jury was not sufficient to warrant the finding of an in-
dictment against them, and consequently they were set at liberty.

About June 25, 1886, Beverly B. Todd, who lived five miles
northeast from Buffalo, was shot and killed when alone at his res-
idence. He lived, however, a short time, long enough to say a
few words to certain persons, who having heard him seream went
to his assistance. The perty or parties who did the shooting
seem to have been concealed. Ciremmstances, however, Iad to
the arrest of John, Joseph and Benjamin Owens, who, being
charged with the cominitment of the crime, were given a pre-
liminary trial befors Esquive T. J. Joues, the trvial commencing
July 6, 1886, The State was represented by Levi Engle, prose-
cuting attorney, and the defendants by Alton and Brown. The
trial resnlted in binding the defendants over to await the acton
of the grand jury at the next term of court.  An indietient was
found, charging John Owens with the murder of Todd and the
other defendants as accessories thercto. The prineipal. John
Owens, was tried at a special term in Jannary, 1887, amd was
found ~ not guilty.”  The case against the other two delrudants
was nolle prosequicd. A few other homieldes have taken place
within the county.

MILITARY ITEMS.

Mewiecnr Wer—The first military organization raised in Dal.
las County for actual service was a company of solliers rajsoed
and organized in the late summer or early fall of 1847, for the
Mexican War. The officers of this company were Capt. Thomas
Jones and Lient. Joseph Eldridge and William Orudgington. The
eorapany lett Buffalo about the middle of September, 1847, and
went to Independence, Mo., where it was mustered intn the
United States service as a part of Col. Gilper’s hafttalion of
mounted dragoons, which served as eseorts and kept the line of
communication open from the States through the Indian Ter-
ritory and what is now New Mexico, wintering at Sunta Fe,

After serving abont one yvear the company returned to Iule-
pendence, and was there mustered ont of serviee, aud on return-
g to Butlalo the soldiers were given a public reception. with a
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grand barbecue. A beef was roasted whole, and several sheep,
pigs and wild turkeys were also roasted, and other provisions
and delicious viands were prepared, and the soldiers were wel-
comed home with * a feast on the fat of the land.” Another
luxury—orv that which has always been considered a luxury—
was whisky, whicli was carvied through the streets in buckets,
with dippers therein, accompanied with plenty of brown sugar to
gweeton it, and of this the returned soldiers and citizens partook
6o sueh an extent that many of them became wondrous lLappy
in their hilarity. Speeches were made aud toasts were given,
and all weve glad that the soldiers had returned vietorious, and
that the dominion of the comntry had heen extended. Among
the survivors of this, the first company of soldiers raised in
Dallas County, are William Barns, James Cheek and Jumes
Hoover, still living in the connty.

i il Wor—OF the TU5 votes east in Dallas County
for presidential eandidates in 1861, John C. Breckinridge, vepre-
sentivy the “Soatliern Cause,” or secession clement, received
only 172 The voles cast ab the same time for Donglas, Bell
and Litcoln may he conntod as cast by men that were loval to
the Govermuent of the United States: hence it follows that at
the onthreak of the Civit War o large majority of the peaple
of Dallas County were in favor of mwaintaining the Uunion at all
bazirds.  Much exeltemont then prevailed, and the enlistment of
troops soon began.

Troops Roised.—Tarly in'the summer of 1801 Capt. Robert
W. Fvan (siuce judge) vaised a company of soldiers for the Twen-
ty-toarth Regiment Infantry, Missouri Volunteers, in the county
of Webster and the sonthern part of Dallas County.  Tliese were
the first veernits from Dallas County for the United States army.

Coapany I, Eighth Regiment Cavalry, Missouri Voluntecrs,
was portially vaised in Dallas Couuty, anl among the officers
were Lieats. Phomas Fraoklin and James M. Reeser from this
county. A sketeh of the history of this regiment is givenin the
history of Laelede County. This company was mustered into the
service in September, 1862,

Company D, Filteenth Regiment Cavalry, Missouri Volunteers,
was raized in Dallas and Polk Counties, in about equal propor-
tions. The following is the roster of the company officers:
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Capt. T. B. Satherland, commissioned November 1, 1863,
mustered out July 1, 1865, Lient. William Gammon, commis-
sioned November 1, 3863, mustered oub July 1, 1865. Lieut.
Thomas B. Hopper, commissioned July 3, 1864, mustered out
July 1, 1865.

On the 1st day of April, 1868, this regiment was organ-
ized, with eight companies of eighty men each, at Mount Ver
non, Mo., being designated as the Second Provisional Legiment,
and was at once placed in the field as regnlar tronps, amd sta-
tioned as follows: Mount Vernon, Bower's Mills, Melville, Gaddly,
Bolivar, Humansville, Stockton and (alena, on the western
border of the State; these eompanies did good serviee in cleaving
the country of bushwhackers, and protecting the loyal citizens.
On the 18th of May, 1863, an order was issued giving the regi-
ment the numerical number of Saventh Provisional Regi-
wment. In the mouths of September and October following
another battalion was added to the regiment, the companics of
whieh were stationed at Melville, Newtonia, Bolivar and Stock-
ton, and were kept continually scouting the surrounding country.
The regiment was now fully erganized as a cavalry regiment, and
rendered service n Southwestern Missouri and Northwestern
Arkansas,

In October, 1863, when tlre Confederate general, Joe Shelby,
entered Missourd, this regiment was the first to fall in o his pur-
suit, and having followed him as far north as the Osage River, and
as far back as the Arkansas line, overtook him in Barry County and
completely dispersed his entire force, causing him to leave quite
a number of his dead and wounded on the field.  After this the
several companies remained at their respective stations, watching
the movements of tle enemy, until June, 1804, when specinl order
was issaed by the Secretary of War providing for the orgauisa-
tlon of a volunteer regiment out of the Seventh Provisiousl Reg-
iment, their muster-in to date back to November 1, 1863, in ovder
to cover back pay then due the men from the State of Missonri,
2s they Lad not been paid for a period of over twelve wonths.
The result was that nearly every man volunteered, and a regi-
ment of cavalry was rendezvoused and organized at Springfield,
Mo, about the 27th of August, 1864, with John D. Allen as colonel
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and Benjamin D. Smith as lieutenant-colonel. This was desig-
nated the Fifteenth Regiment Cavalry, Missouri Volunteers. Soon
thereafter, when the State was invaded by the Confederate army
under Gen. Price, it formed a portion of the Third Brigade, com-
manded by Gen. John B. Sanborn, and participated in all the
engagements with the encmy from Jefferson City to Newtonia,
after which the companies returned to their former stations,
where they remained until mustered out, July 1, 1865. (From
Adjntant General’s Report. )

Company I, Sixteenth Regiment Cavalry, Missouri Volun-
teers, was a company raised wholly in Dallas County, in the
summer and fall of 18G3, as a part of the Sixth Provisional Reg-
iment Enrolled Missouri Militia, and was afterward orguanized
into the Sixteenth Ragiment Cavalvy, Missonri Volunteers, nuder
the same order from the War Department under which the Fif-
teenth Regiment Cavalry, Missouri Volunteers, was formed. The
roster of the company officers is as follows: Capt. Morgan Kelly,
commissioned November 1, 1863, mustered ount July 1, 1565;
Lient. Thomas Deam, commissioned dJunly 23, 18064, mustered
out July 1, 1865; Lient. George W. O'Bannou, commissioned
November 1, 1803, muostered out July 1, 1865,

The hisfory of this regiment is vevy similar to that of the
Fifteenth Regiment Cavalry, Missonri Volunteers, having heen
originally organized as a provisional regiment of State troops,
amd altorward as o regiment of volunteers for the United States
service, its muster dating back to the time it was originally or-
ganized as a provisional regiment.  Its services were perforuied
in Sonthwestern Missourl and Northwestern Arkansas, and with
the exception that its companies were sometimes stationed at
different points, its history is ahmost the same as that of the .
teenth Regiment Cavalry, Missouri Volunteers.

Of the Eighth Regiment Cavalry, Missouri State JMlitia,
a part of Companies B, G and M were raised in Dallas County.
For furtlier meuntion of the vegiment, see history of Cumden
County. Some of the offigers and men composing companies A
and H of the Fourteenth Cavalry, Missouri State Militin. were
also from Dallas Comnty, among them being Second Lieut. Peter
Wilson, afterward transferred to the Fourth Cavalry, and Capt.
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Milton Bireh, afterward transferred to the Eightl: Cavalry, and
Lieut. Amos Norton, afterward promoted to quartermaster.

Companies A and C of the Twenty-sixth Regiment, Furolled
Missouri Militia, were raised in Dallas County, and the following
is the roster of the officers of aach:

Company A—Capt. Ezekiel D. Brown, commissioned August
6, 1862, vacated March 12, 1865; Lieut. H. D. Bavber, connuis-
sioned August 6, 1862, vaeated July 28, 1864: Licot W. K.
Jump, commissioned August 6, 1862, vacated March 12, 1865,

Company C—Capt. Morgan Kelly, First Lieut. William Gan-
mou and Second Lient. G. W, O'Bannon were counnissioned {o
rank from Auwgust 6, 1862, and their connnissions were revolkod
by special order No. 233, 18304, to enable them to receite com-
missions, the one {Gammon) in the Fiftecuth and the other two
In the Sixteenth Regiment Cavalry, Missouri Volunteors. The
Enrolled Militia were not engaged in mineh active sorvice,

The ighteenth Regiment (or battalion} of Missouri Mili-
tia, cousisting of Companies A, D and E, was organized e Dal-
las and Laclede Couuties. in 1863, after the war had closed.
Milton Bireh was made ealonel and . R, Stanley adjutaut. Tl
officers ot Company A were Capt, Lewis W. Havt and Tients,
William I Jump and Willinan O Wisdom,  The olficers of
Company D were Capt. James R, K. Fox and Licat. Heury T
Evans.  Those of Company B werve Capt. James B Dotson. S.
MeXNiel Johnson and James H. King.

Losses.—Asa vesult of the war Dallas Comnty sutfered the
loss of lLer court-house and public records, the latter being the
greater loss, as the vecords ean uever be restored.  The county
has recovered from the former loss by the erection of a much
better conrt-house than the one that was destroyed.  Otherwise
the county did not sutfer as muel: as many other counties of the
State. being, as it was, off of the Jirect lines of communication
on whicl the large armies moved. It was, however, overrun
with scouting parties from hoth armtes, aml also by guervillag
and bushwhackers. A wuamber of citizens lost their lves at the
hands of the latter classes, anid some were undoubtedly uwnueces-
sarily slain by the soldiers.  Among the citizens that were
killed were Mark Hendrix, Nathaniel Wollard, Fohn BEdmisson,
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Isaae Martin, Jacob Norton, Reuben Arnold, Joseph Stanley,
John and Elijah Gordon and probably others, the most of them
having heen killed by bushwhackers to avenge an imaginary
wrong, or for the purpose of robbery. The Gordons were killed
about the middle of the war period, at the house of Ezekiel Wil-
kingpn, who at the time was sick and was being visited by his
brother, Richard Wilkinson, now of Buffalo. On the oceasion,
two men, dressed in the garh of Federal soldiers, called at the
hounse, and one of them gained aidmittance under pretense of get-
ting a dripk, awd the other remained on the poreh. At this
moment the firing commenced, and the two Gordons were killed.
The inmates of the house then resisted, and the flends, probably
feeling that they would e overpowered, flad away. Meanwhile,
Mz, Richard Wilkinson, having seized a gun, fived two shots
after them nnd wonnded one of them, but they both escaped.

Norton was shol while plowing in his field.  Arnold, being
charyged with rendering ussistance to the enemy, was captured hy
some Federal sollicrs, who started to tale him to Springfield,
but killed him on the wuy while (as thsy veported) he was
attempting to escape.  Stanley was shot ab his home, in Butfalo,
by sowe unknown party.  Jackson Chapman was killed by some
Coufederate guerrillas or bushiwhackers, after they had made a
prisoncr of him.  Many citizens were killed Juring the war hy
personal enemies, who eowardly and flundishly concealed them-
selves 1n the bushes and awaited the passing of thelr vietims,
or umder cover of the bushes stealthily crept upon them when
they perpetrated the Jdevilish deed.  Others were wantouly killed
after beiug captured, by their captors, who, in order to justify
their conduet, found It couvenient to report that the killing was
done while the prisoner was attempiing to escape.

There were no companies organized in Dallas County for the
Confederate servige, but some of her citizens, who sympathized
with the Southern canse and were i favor of seceszion, went
out of the county and joined varions commands that were ralsed
for the Confederate army.
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TOWNS AND VILLAGES.
BUFFALO.

Historical.—The county seat, Buffalo, is situated at the eastern
sdge of Buffalo Head Prairie, on an eminence whieh descends quite
uniformly in all directions from its center. Theland embraced in
the original plat of the town was formerly owned by Martin Randle-
man and William E. Williams. The original plat compuises the
public square and twenty-one blocks of six lots eacl, and aceord-
ing to the best information attainable it was surveyed in the
spring or summer of 1841. Prior o this date, about the year
1838, the first buildings, two log cabins, had been erccted npon
the site, one by William E. Williams and the other by Joseph F.
Miles, the latter of whom recently died at considerably over one
hundred years of age. The first store at Duffalo was opened by
Samuel Willians some time before the town was laid out, at the
place loug known as the “Gum Spring,” about eighty rods
southwest of the public square. As soon as the town was sur-
veyed Mr. Williams moved his goods into a hewed log house
erected at the southeast corner of the public square, aud there
continued the business, soon thereafter taking iuto partuership
his brother, Caswell Williams. A few years later William L.
and I N. Morrow opened the second store in the place. About
the same time Alf. Moore opened the first dram-shop or grocery,
as it was then called.

In 1546 a Mr. Florence settled in Buffalo, and traded a lot of
slaves for a stock of goods and opened a store. In 1817
William Edwards was running & whisky distillery two and a half
miles northeast of Buffalo, and also owned the grist-anill on the
Niangua, four miles northeast of town, at the site of the |neseunt
Southwick & Foster Mill. In September of that year William
M. Lovan (father of the Lovan brothers, stil! surviving) came to
Buffalo and opened a saddle and harness shop and store, and con-
tinned the business until 18613, when he retired, and since that
time, with the exception of two years, his souns, Marshall G. and
James K., have continned the business, they being now in sepa-
rate stores. Thiz makes forty years that one family has con-
ducted the same kind of business in the same town. The first
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brick building in Buffalo was the old court-house, erected in 1847
and 1848, and the second one was the building at the southwest
corner of the public square, now oceupied by the Dallas County
Bank. It was erected in 1848 by Levi Beckner. In 1850
Buffalo contained three or four stores, and it did not increage
much in the next decade, there being only four or five stores in
the town at the beginning of the Civil War. As was the case in
all towns in this part of the country, the business of the town
was very much suspended during the war period. But sfter-
ward it recruited, and considering the size of the town and
amount of business now doune, it must be said to bave had a
prosperous commercial career since the close of the war.

At this writing the business portion of the town contains &
good number of brick blocks, there being fourteen store rooms
n the lowar stories thereof, not including the bank building and
the large brick livery barn of Fenix & Routh. The town is 80
located that its drainage is excellent, and from the cupola on the
court-house & grand view of the surrounding country, for many
miles in all directions, is obtnined.

It Is comuected by mail and pack lines with Lebanon, Con-
way and Bolivar, the fivst being twenty-eight miles east, the sec-
ond twenty-two miles sontheast, and the last twenty miles west.
A fair estimale of its population is about 1,000,

Business Diveclory.—The following is a business directory of
the town at this writing, February, 1889: Geueral merehandise—
Wiliam L. Morrow, Jr., T. C. Lovell, Frank Furth, ¢. H.
Behrens & Bro. and G. W. O’Bannon; drugs—F. €. Wilson,
Jobn A, Lamun & Bro. ard T. G Weatherby & Co.; hardware—
H. G. Lovan, William L. Morrow & Son, C. H. Behrens & ros.
and Buffalo Hardware Co. ; groceries—A. Skinner, H. G. Lovan,
William L. Morrow & Son and Stepp & Pendergraft; harness
and saddles—Drake & Lovan and H. G, Lovan; restaurants—
TWilliam Kellogg and John Brown: livery—Fenix & Routh, Td-
dington Bros. and W. Hunt; hotels—Little House and Buffalo
Hotel; furniture and coffins—John O'Bannon; millinery and
dressmaking—Mrs. Branstetter; boot and shoe shops—W. T.
Booher and J. C. Wall; marble works—C. L. Cartice and Charles
Rinear; billiards—John Brown; lumber—Behrens & Morrow;
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photo gallery—John James; opera hall—G. W. ’Bannon; bar-
ber—7T. 8. Williamson; blacksmiths—Nunn & Stafford, Smith &
Wood, J. N. Cline and C. McPheters; jewelry-—W. F. Stafford;
physicians—V. B. Gatewood, S. 8. Carr, A. M. Jounes, Young &
Armstrong and F. W. Reynolds; dentists—J. George and C. E.
Hovey; real estate agents—Evans & Schofield, Porter & Lovan
and George T. Edmisson; justices of the peace-——A., A. Ramsay
and J. L. Richey.

Ofher Inferests.—In addition to the foregoing there are the
Roller Flouring Mills, by W. 8mithpeter; a saw and grist-mill and
carding machine combined, by Blevins & DBlankenship, and a
fruit evaporator, by A. D. Matthews; also four chureh edifices,
viz., Baptist, Christian, Methodist Episcopal and Presbyterian,
and a brick school-house containing four rooms; also the Dallas
County Bank, which was established in March, 1884, by M. 5.
Towsey & Bro., with a eapital of $10,000. This firm continued
the business until September of that vear, when J. P. Brownlow
bought the bank, and continued with the same amount of capital
until February, 1887, when T. M. Brown bought a third interest,
and the capital stock was increased to $19,000. In July, 1858,
My, Brown purchased a half interest, and the firm is now Brown-
low & Brown, the former bsing cashier, with J. E. Brownlow,
assistant cashier. The bank is doing a prosperous business, and
is very nseful in the affairs of the fown.

Professionul Men.—Among the early professional men of
Buffalo were Dr. D. A Barrett, Dr. James Slavens and Dr.
Lewey. who were physicians here as early as 1847, and probably
some time prior therveto. Barrett remained unfil about the time
the Civil War clesed, and Slavans remained until about the year
1872, The latter was also one of the pioneer Methodist preachers.
He and the other sarly ministers of Buffalo and vieinity, and
also the early seftlers of the town, are meniioned elsewhere in
this work.

Incorporation.—Buffalo was incorporated in 1854, but in con-
sequence of opposition it remained incorporated only a short time.
It was sgain incorporated in 1870, but for the same reason, or
neglect, the corporate laws were not long enforced, and now the
town is without local government.
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The Press.—The first newspaper published in Buffalo was
the Buffalo Herald, established about the year 1855, by Donald
Plummer, who published it about two years and then moved it to
Marshfield, in Webster County., The next was the Buffalo
Refler, establislied about the year 1870 or 1871 by A, W. Car.
son.  After ten volumes and ten numbers had been published it
was consolidated with the Buffalo Regisfer, which had recently
been established. The Rejler has changed hands several times,
being first published as a Republicay, then as a Democratic, then
as un independent and now again as a Republican paper. The
present oditor and pmblisher took charge of it September 24,
1585, Tt is an eight-eolumu folio, published weekly, is neat in
appearance and is well edited.

The Dallas Comdy Dewoerad, o neat and ably edited five-
eolwinn quarte, weekly newspaper, was established in Decernber,
1557, by M. M. Miller, who published it a few months, and then
transferved it to the Democrat Printing Company, by whom it
was published until Jannary 9, 1888, when the present editor
and publisher, Joseph 8. Golieen, touk charge. Its motto is:
*To put our best Heks for trath and right, and to make
money.”

A pumber of other newspapers have heen published in Buf-
falo for short periods of time, the Register having been in
existenee three or four years.

SOCIETITS,

Beddick Lodge No. 361 A0 Fo & A M., was organized
niler chinrter dated October 13, 1871, grauted by Grand Master
Thomas B. Garnett.  The officers named in the eharter were:
James Marlin, W. M.; J. K. Gammon, S. ., and R. Wilkinson,
J. W. The officers of the lodge at this writing ave as follows,
viz.: John T. Pendleton, W. M. George T. Edmisson, 8. W.;
John George, J. W.; H. J. Behrens, See.; M. Gotsel, Treas.; ML
L. Reynolds, 8. D.; W. 8, Speucer, J. D.; R. Wilkinson, Chap, ;
J. W. Jones, Tyler, The membershiy is about fifty-two, and the
lodge is in good finanecial conditiow.

Biffalo Lodye No. 430, I, O. Q. F., was organized under
charter dated May 18, 1883, grauted by Grand Master T. B.
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Gannaway, attested by Grand Secretary E. M. Sloan. The chax-
ter officers were; Johu S. Wilsen, N. G.; T. M. Brown, V. G.;
W. (&. Bobertson, Sec.; W. T. Line, Treas.; G. W. Bakebill, C_;
J. N. Gamel, Warden; Frank Wilson, L G.; R. G. Wilkinson,
O. G.; W. Smithpeter, R. 8, N. G.; J. N. Davidson, L. 8. N. G.;
W. Vanliorn, B. 8. V. G.; Frank Furth, L. S. V. G.; W. J.
Evans, R. 8. 8.; Johu A. Ramsay, L. 8. 8.; Jacob Miller, Chap-
lain. The present officers are: Harry Ifurth, N. G.; E. L. Scho-
field, V. G.; F. W. Reynolds, R. See.; A. C. Behrens, P. Sec.;
J. T. Pendleton, Treas.; J. A, Bamsay, Warden; L. D. Staflord,
I G.; L F Jouwes, O. G,; N. Davidson, Il. 8. N. G.; M. C.
Nunn, I 8. N. G.; 8 L Hite, R. 8. V. G.; T. C. Wilson, L. 8.
V. G.;: B. T. Johnson, R. 8. 8.3 C. 8. Tinley, L. 8. 8. The
membership numbers about forty, and the finaucial condition of
the lodge is good.

Buffido Lodge No. 203, 4. 0. U, W, hegan its labors un-
der charter dated November 27, 1883, granted by H. L. logers,
Grand Master Workman, and William C. Richardson, Grand
Recorder. The charter officers were: J. T. Rollins, P. M. W.;
W. Smithpeter, M. W.; F. C. Wilson, F.; C. H. Belrens, O
Frank Fuarth, Rec.; 8. R, Pittman, .; Peter Hullt, Recciver; T
W. Brown, Guide; Henry Humphrey, I W.; J. 8. Burus, 0. W,
The present officers are: C. L. Cuvtice, M. W.; I. €. Wilson,
Rec.; Frank Furth, Fin.; T. G. Weatherhy, Ilec.; T N. Cline,
O.; W. F Stafford, 1. W. This society has twenty-five mauabers,
and is in & towrishing condition.

Gen. Frank J. Herrvon Post No, 161, G. A. K., was organ-
ized in 1584, with the following echarter members, vis: 13, T
MeHenry, Daniel Robertson, John 8. Wilzon, W. J. Vinhorn,
George W. O'Bannon, C. L. Curtice, John A. Rawsuy, I M.
Brown, 0. Q. Barbarick, James 8. Hazlett, George Delaplain, J.
K. P. Bridges, A. J. Patterson, F. A. Van Norman and John €.
Bennett. Of the original members B. F. McHenry, and of sub-
sequent members W. M. Gammon, Joseph Patterson and Elias
Chapman, are now deceased. The present officers of the post
are: Charles L. Curtice, P. C.; David Olinger, 5. V. C.; A, J.
Pattersen, J. V. C.; J. L. Richey, Adj.; J. C. Beunett, Q. M.;
John W. Johnson, Sarg.; W. H. Swift, Chap.; Joln Glenn, O.
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D.; George Tibbs, O. G.; J. A. Ramsay, 8. M. The member-
ship is about forty-five. The post meets in the court-honse, and
the other ahbove mentioned societies meet in Edmisson’s Lall,

CELT.

This is a post-office in the extrome southern pert of the county.

CHARITY.

Charity is a post hamlet in the eastern part of Jackson Town-
ship, twelve miles sontheast of Buffalo, containing a general store
and e drug store kept respectively by G. W. Herd and White
Bros., a blacksmith shop by John Calk, and & flouring mill by
Legan & Son; also a physician, Dr. E. D. White.

GREARY,

This is a post-office on Greasy Creek, a few milss south of
Baffalo,

LEADY MINE.

A post-oflice in the northeastern part of the county is Liead
Mine.
LONG LANE.

A post village on the Lebanon road, twelve miles east of Bui-
falo, containing two gemeral stores kept respectively by Jacob
Eelley and L. C. Ball, a drug store by Roberts & Holman, a
physician, Dr. M. G. Roborts, the post-office by W. B. Hutchin-
son, and a post of the G. A. R., is Long Lane.

LOUISBURG,

Louishurg, a post-office and village nine miles north by a little
west from Buffalo, contains two general stores kept respectively
by Yaughn & Darby and G. W. Bass, a hotel, the Padgett House,
by G. W. Wilson, two blacksmith shops, a portable saw and grist
mill by William Fowler & Co., a Masonic hall and an academy
building separate from the public school building. A privats
school is sustained part of the time in the academy. E. M. Pad-
gett is the postmaster and Dr. M. L. Atchley the village physician.
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ULRBANA,

This is a small village of about 150 inhabitants, sitnated in
Lincoln Township, thirteen miles north and four miles west of
Buffalo. It was estahlished soon after the elose of the Civil War,
and named Andersonville, in honor of Dr. Andrews, who resided
there a number of years before his death. The rame was after-
ward changed to Urbana. Stephen Burris opened the first store
in the place. It has since grown to contain at present tluee
general stores kept respectively by 8. H. Burris, L. J. Slaveus
and Lightner Bros., a hardware store by L. H. Baldwin. a drug
store by Vanghan & Dillon, a harness and saddle store by J. S,
Thurston, a grocery and shoe-shop by J. M. Fowler, a eabinet
shop by 4. A. Bonner, the Merchant Flouring Mills by Davis &
Fowler, two blacksmith shops by T. M. Tnrner and R. Howard,
respectively, the post-office by C. C. Lightuner and the Burris
House by James Garrison. The village also contains a Masonie
hall, one chureh (Methodist Episcopal, South) and the distvict
scheol-house. The physiciane are E. P. Vaughan, J. P. Andrews,
and Z. L. Slavens, Yor some years before the free school system
reached its present eficiency, Urbana maintained a good private
high-sehool.

POST-OFFICES.

(Hher post-offices in the county are Mareh, Olive, Redtop,

Spring Grove, Thorpe, Tilden, Town and Woodhill

FRIEKDSHIP COMMUNITY.

This is a few miles west of Buffalo, and was incorporated
March 15, 15872, It was founded by Aleander Longley, editor
of the Communis!, a monthly paper devoted to social veform.
The community owned 500 acres of good land (300 prairie and
200 wood land), on which the members lived as one family, and
on which they engaged in farming and fruit and stock raising.
The members, men and women, had equal rights, and owned all
things in common. Its affairs were administered by oflicars who
received the votes of three-fourths of the members. No interfer-
ence was made with the religious, political or other opinions
of its members, nor with marriage or family relations.* This

i phetl’s Goretteer,
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community was, according to Camphell’s Gazetteer, in full oper-
ation in 1875, when that work was published, but soon thereafter
the members, becoming dissatisfied, began to withdraw, and
finally, some years ago, it ceased o exist.

EDUCATION,

On aecountof the destrnetion of the public records, but little
can be said of the early public schools of Dallas County, The
fivst schools tanght within the county were supported entively
by subseription; that is, tho pavents or guardians of the ehildren
that were sent to school paid the teachers in proportion 1o the
number sent.  Such a school existed at Butfulo hefore the connty
was organized, in the spring of 184L Tt was probably com-
meunced prior to 1840, The old eitizens well remewmber the old
log  school-house whicl sicod near the present cemetery at
Buaffalo, and in which the fivst ecurts met, Among the teacliers
who first tanght in this building, Anthouny Linsey, Jackson F.
Oliver {a pioneer Baptist preacher), Reuben T. Peake, William
L. Smith and Mary Barrett are well remembered.  But very few
schools weve taught in Dallas County prior to the year 1550,
about which time a fow were first established under the then mea-
ger school system of the State. At this time Richard Wilkinson,
now of Buffalo, and John Welel, a brother of Thomas P. Welch,
the latter also now of Buffalo, identified themselves with the
schools and became teachers.  Isracl Arnold (still living in the
county ), was also a teacher at that thue. Under the old regime,
the educational facilities for the children of the people in gen-
eral were very limited. The State sclwol law was radically
changed soon after the close of the Civil War, an almost entively
new system being inaugurated, and it hag been improved from
tlne to time until the present system has become established.

Revenues—The first action of the county cowrt pertaining to
the public schools of Dallas County, now on record, was taken
May 7, 1868, when an order was made for the distribution of
school revemues to each congressional township within the
county, as follows:

34



4R STATE OF BISSOURL

Tewnship. Kange. Amouut,
36 18 e F 9300
36 10 e 163 o
a6 B e 1TG 0D
b W e 200 i
39 P K- (1)
30 18 e . IR D
34 1 e 205
34 1 e, 21300
54 P | By ¢
33 A e i 24 00
33 B e B2
32 1<) B 1
3 18 e .. 21200

32 D ) {11
532 e B OO

Toml%()lh%

In this apportionment there was just $1 issued to each pupil
entitled to draw public school funds, consequently the number
of dollars corresponds exactly with the number of clildren
enumerated for school purposes.

Two years later, May 5, 1870, an order was made for the dis-
tribution of the school revenues to the several congressional
townships, as follows:

Townehip, tange, Amount.

32 and 33 I B BT U

86 L BTRGG
34 U [ v 11
a5 B e 15 5%
33 18 HERT
o 19 e e B0 AT
32 P SR UG
b - P 1

33 12 N E- ) 1
31 Y 1 B
33 R 1= R 1
34 I e A0 48
32 D 140 30
a6 L U & ) ..

Total. oo L UZR.510 )

By comparing this distribution with the one made two vears
before, the inerease or decrease of the amount issued to each
township will be observed. Upon the whole there was an in-
crease of 3454.09,
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On the 3d of June, 1874, the county court, acting under an
act, entitled * An act to reorganize and provide for the support
of public schools, and to revise and amend the laws relating
thereto, and to repeal certain acts and parts of aets,” approved
March 26, 1874, ordered that the county should be subdivided
into school districts, and the number of sections of land belonging
to and composing each one was designated. The number of
school distriets thus formed in each congressional township was
as follows: Township 32, Range 18, 2; TFownship 33, Range
18, 4; Township 34, Range 18, 9; Township 35, Range 18, 3;
Township 36, Range 18, 2; Township 82, Range 19, 2; Town-
ship 33, Range 19, 4; Township 84, Range 19, ¢; Township 35,
Range 19, 3; Township 36, Range 19, 4; Township 31, Range
20, 2; Township 32, Range 20, 5; Townskip 83, Range 20, 4;
Towuship 34, Ravge 20, 6 Township 35, Range 20, 5; Town-
ship 30, Range 20, +.  Total number of districts, G5,

On the 5th of Augnst, 1875, the county court apportioned the
State and County school fund interest, to the 3,208 children
then enumerated within tho county, for school purposes. The
share apportioned to each sehool child of the interest from the
State school fund was 75 cents, and the whole amount appor-
tioned from thal source was §2,408.74  The share of the connty
school fund interest apportioned to each sehool child was 48
cents, and the whole amount, $1,548.59.  This makes the agore-
gate amount then apportioved §3,957.33.  Five years later, May
20, 180, the court found that 3,170 persons of school age had
been enumerated (it being less than the number enumerated in
18%5), and apportioned to them from the State school funds the
sum of §2,536, it being 80 cents to cach individual, and from
the county school funds the sum of $1,585, it being 50 cents
to each individual, thus making the total amount apportioned
84,121, and the total amount to each child, $1.30. The funds
were now apportioned to each school district, instead of to the
congressional townships, as they had been prior to the formation
of the districts as made by the connty court.

In August, 1886, the comrt made an order re-bounding all the
school districts within the county, but did ot change the
number of districts, the boundary lines in some iustances being
the only changes made. At the same time the revenues appor-
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tioned for the support of the public schools were $3.600
from the State funds and $1,900 from the county funds, mak-
ing & total of 85,500

Statistics.—The following statistics pertaining to the publie
schools of Dallas County are compiled from the report of the
State superintendent of public schools for the school year comm-
mencing July 1, 1886, and ending June 30, 1887 (the Jast report
not being at band): Erumeration of school children within the
county: White, males, 2,403; females, 2,268 ; total 4.671; colored,
males, 24; females, 1%; total, 43; total white and colored, 1,714

Enrollment of pupils in the public sehools: White, males,
2,113; females, 1,983 ; total, 4,098; colored males, 20; females, 12;
total, 32; total white and colored, 4,130. According to the fore-
going it is found that, of the whole number of white ehildren
enumerated within the connty, 87 per cent. and a fraction over
attended the public schools, whick is a much larger percentage
than that found in many other comnties of the State. The
figures also show that, of the whole number of colorved ehildion
enumerated, T4 per cent. and a fraction over availed them-
selves of the privilege of attending the public school—there
being only ome in the county. This is also a gowd showing,
considering the fact that these childven had only vne school fo
attend, it being located at Butfalo. It also proves that nearly all
of the colored population of the eounty is located in and about
the county seat.

SCIHOOL HEVENUES—RECEIPTS,

Casb oon hand July 1, 1886, .. ... ... .. ..., ... % 2000 6
Recvived from State fund ... oL L. 3,020 25
Received from county funds.. ... ... ..o .oe ... 1,800 o
Received from direct taxation......... ............ 5,150 70
Total receipts. ..o s oo oL B12.5TT A
Total expewditures. ... ... .. ... . ..., F10,900 25
Leaving cash on hand July 1, 1837, . ...........% L.G17 30

The amount received from the State funds, as shown above,
was the distributive share of Dallas County of the interest col-
lected by the State officers on the permanent school funds belong-
ing to the State, for a fuller mention of which see History of
Laclede County. The amount received from county funds was
the interest collected by the county officers on the permanent
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school funds owned and loaned by the county. Of this latter
fund, designated * County School Funds,” the county of Dallas
has in round numbers §20,000. The prineipal of this fund
has been derived from various sources—from “fines, forfeitures,
penalties,” ete., and from the nat proeceeds of the sales of the
swamp or overflowed lands, and also from the proceeds of the
school lands, being the sixteenth section of each congressional
township within the conuty. | See Public Lands.| This latter
fund, according to law, should be kept separate, and be desig-
nated Township Sehool Fund, and each congressional township
should have for its share of it the smonut dervived from tlie sale
of its school lands.  But, regardless of the law, the township
school fauds have all been consolidated with the county school
funds. and arve managed under that head. According to the letter
of the Iaw, n congressional township, the school lands of whieh
have not been soll, eould have no township fuud, consequently
the consolidation of these funds secures greater equity than a
strict complionee with the law eonld secure.

The conuty school fund is constantly increasing from the
accnmulation of fines, forvfeibures, penalties, ete., and will con-
tinue o ineresnse as long as men continue to commit erimes, to
forfeit penalties, ete.

Farther statistics from this report are:

Nrumber of duys attendanee in public schools. . ... ERTER ]
Averare days silemlance. ..o PO i
Whole number of Jdays se 11001:: werg mu“hl ....... :
Acverage number attemding eachday. ... ...

Number of teachers employved in county. .. ..

Average monthly salary of (cachers.. ... oo L, F25 94
Number of rooms ocelupied. ..o oo i L T
Beating capaciiy of all rooms. ..o oo oL L 4,141
Number of white schools. .. ......o.. oL 63
Nunber of coloved schools. . ... .. ... i
Cost purduy of cach papil. ..o t\\u ccnts '11.1(1 six mills
Vulue of school property. ... a.. 3 LET
Assessed valuation of taxable property........ .. 1,215,063 (1)
Averape sehool tax levy ooiiiiiiie i o 3
Puid tenchiera. . o e e 8,180 00
Paid forinctdenials. ... oo o 228 6
Praid distriel elerks, .o oo 257 S0
Paid [or sites, buildings and furnishiogs. . ... ...... 267 25

Paid forrepairs and rent. .. ... s 153 64
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The public school system is well patronized by the people of
Dallas County, as shown by the large per cent. of the scholastic
population attending the schools, but as yet the schools are not
taught a sufficient length of time. There is yet room for much
improvement of the public schools.

ECCLESIASTICAL.

Among the early settlers of Dallas County were a nuniber of
pioneer Christian workers, who, while enduving the hardships and
privations of frontier life, gathered abount them their few seatter-
ing mneighbors, and to them preached the word of God aud
pointed out the way of salvation. The most active and most
noted of these were Elijah F. Yeager and James Slavens, of the
Methodist Episcopal Church; John Hatfield, Daniel Murphy and
Jackson F. Oliver, of the Baptist; Thomas Potter, of the Chris-
tian, and John Alsup, of the Cumberland Presbyterian denom-
ination. The Methodists and Baptists were the first to form
church organizations. Following arve historieal sketehes of the
various ehurch organizations within the county.

Methodist Episcopal Churches.—The frst chuaveh of this de-
nomination in Dallas County, and, us it is helieved, the first one
of any denomination within the couuty, was organizad hetween
1838 and 1840, in the log school-house at Buitalo, hy Rev. Blijah
F. Yeager, with H. Stanley and wite, Jacob Randloman and wite,
Martin Randleman and wife, W. L. Morrow and wife, William
Stanley and wife, and perbhaps otliers, as constitueni members.
Rev. Yeager was perhaps the best known and most noted ploneer
minister of the county, and in the language of an old citizen, .
8. Fraker, ‘‘one among the finest men this county has ever had.”
In the division of the Methodist Episcopal Cliurely, in 1844, the
Buffalo class adhered to the Methodist Episcopal Chrrel, South,
under which head ifs history is completed. Another Meth-
odist Episcopal Church was organized about the year 1840, at
the dwelling-house of James Hughard, in the immediate vicinity
of the present Liberty Methodist Episcopal Chureh, South, which
is about two miles southwest of Long Lane, by Rev, Glanvil, with
James Hughard and wife, A. D. Mehaffey and wife and others as
eonstituent members. At the division of the Metlhodist Clhureh,
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In 1844, this class also cast its lot with the Methodist Episcopal
Chureh, Soutl. [See Liberty Methodist Episcopal Clinveh,
South. |

the Buffalo Circuit and the Urbana Cireuit comprise all the
Methodist Episcopal Churches in Dallas County, and both
belong to the Sprivgficld District of the St Louis Conference.
The present Methodist Episcopal Chureh at Buffalo was arganized
in the spring of 1865, by Rev. W. H. Wood, and about the year
L5651t united with the Baptists in building the frame church
whieh it now oceupies, at a cost of about ELG00. The bwo de-
nowinations continued to nse the building together uutil 1883,
when the Methodists purchased the juterest of the Baptizts and
became sole owner. This and the Fowr Mile Clinvely, located
about ten miles sast of Buitalo, which was organized in 1587,
having now a memborship of abont forty, eompose the Presaut
Buttalo Cirenit. This cireuit has hevetofore ineluded soine other
chavges. The pastors ol the Mothodist Episcopal Chureli at
Buttalo, and of the cirenit to which it has belonged, luve heon
as follows: W. H. Wood, 1865-G5; A, Buarber, 1868-70; (. A,
Bell, 1570-72; Lsnac Iatwisle, 1872.73; J. W. Bayues, 1872705,
A, Barber, 1876 79 H, Dalton, 1879505 Jacob Miller, T550-53;
Isave Bntwisle, 1853-85; W. B Yoager, 1855-87 3 Moses Audor-
son, 1857T-R5: A, J. Graves, 133, preseat pastor.  The Mathod-
ist Hpiscopal Chareh at Buaffalo has about sovenby-five weitboers,
The Buitalo Cirenit inelnded Uvbana uniil the spriing ol 135,
when it was divided, and the Urbana Clrenit, comprising Bower's
Chapel, near the village of Urbana, and Prospeet Churely, in Dal-
las Connty, wos formed.  The elass at Bower's Chapel wias oroan-
tzed in October, 1865, with Elijah Bower, Nauey J. Roberisou.
Willis G. Robertson, John Walker, W. G. Ramsey, Blelvin T,
Yeager, George W. Darby and others as members. TProspect
Church was organized later. These ehwrel organizations have
each a good frame edifice in wlhicl they worship,  The one at
Prospect was erected in 1886-87, anl was dedicatad in 1887 by
Rev. F. 8. Biges, P. E.  Bower's Chapel has a membership of
about 100, but the membership of Prospect Church is not so
large.  Both are in a prosperous condition.

The Mclhodist Episcopal Churehes, South.—The Metliodist
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Episcopal Church organized in Buffalo prior to 1840, as has
been stated, being transtormed, after the division of 1844, into
the 3ethodist Episcopal Church, South, continueil to worship in
the school-house and other rooms until about the year 1830), when
they erected a frame chureh adifice, in whick they eontinnad to
worship until 1t was burned down while being ocenpied by the
county as a court-house, during the Civil War.  About this tine
the church became very mueh weakened, and has not sines boon
able to erecta new hounse. It has, however, kept up its orguniza-
tion, and at this writing holds services In the Presbyterian
Church.  The following pastors have offciated sivee the originn]
organization, viz.: Blijah F. Yeager, James Mitchell, Joltn Mitch-
ell, John Monroe, W, D. Stewart, Rufus M, Baker, 18715, G L.
Mitchell. 1832 and 1873; B. M. Baker and C. F. Drydon, 18574 (.
F. Dryden, 1873:.F. B, Landveth, 1876; J. A, Mathews, 1877 and
187514, B. Landreth, 1879, J. W, Bond, 1850 G, W, Wiml L 1551
and 1532 T P. Hill, 13337 J. W. Boud, 1854: J. BL Proctor
1855 and 18545 James L, Taylor, 1887; J. €. Aloxander, Ls8s,
present pastor. The membership of the chiurch is now abont
forty. It belongs to the Buffalo Cirenit, Lebanon Disbrict,
Southwest Missouri Couference. The other elassos GO ORI 1T
this cirenit are known as Churel Grove aud Liberty.

The Chureh Grove Class was organized in 1545, Iy Robert
Foster, at the residence of David Brandrvidee, with David Beun-
dridge aud wife, Catharine, Sarali and Samuel Williauwson, 13e-
becea Madduz, Mary, Savah and Melvina Fraker, Susan Taylor.
Mr. Hastings and My, Vinsant as constituent members. This
class continued to worship at private houses and seliool-lionses
until 1571, when its present frame edifice was erected at Church
Grove, at a cost of 81,000, The pastors of this chureh have hecu
as follows, viz.: R. Foster, 1345; John Wheeler, 18405; Willard
end Paunl, 1547; T. J. Smith, 1545; H. E. Smith, 184%; J. C.
Williams, 1850; M. Hawkivs and D. C. O’Howel, 1851; J. .
Williams, 1852; Green Woods, 1553; Samuel Bradley, 1854;
8. Hadley, 1560; J. Monvos, 1368; Blakeley, 1870; C. Dryden
and R. Baker, 1871; J. G. Mitchell, 1872 to 1876; €. Dryden,
1877; J. B. Landrath, 1875; J. A. Mathews, 1879, and since that
time the same as at Buifalo. Church Grove is south of south-
west from Buffalo, and about ten miles distant from that place.
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Liberty Chureh, about two miles southwest of Long Lane,
may be said to be the oflspring of the Methodist LEpiscopal
Chureh, organizad in that vicinity about the year 1840, of whicl)
mention has already heen made. Tt was organized (or perhaps
more properly reorganized) about the year 1569, by Rev. Q. F.
Dryden, with 8. J. Latimer and wife, 4. Shook and wite, Will-
iam L. Shook anl wife, T. P, Hill and wife, ¢. G. Imhoof and
wite, Isane Biller, W. H, Ball and wife, Jolm Miller and many
otliers as conslitutent members. About the year 1870 their
present frams eharel building, 24x10 feet in size, was erected,
at 4 cost of vearly 450, It was dadizated October 20, 1873, by
the then presiding elder, Rev. C. P. Jones. The pastors that
have preacliad to this eluss bave been, with ouly a few exceptions,
the sanie as those officiating at Chareh Grove,  The member-
ship is abont eiphiy.

The Urbana Cirenil comprisos the following Mothodist Epis-
copal Chiurches, Sounth, in Dallas County:

Kirk’s Chapel was orcranized soon after the elose of the Civil
War, at Kirk’s Cometery, in Miller Township, by Rev. William
Stewart (or Steward).  Williue ek, J. R Q. Tucker, C. ¢
Young and Eliza Winmphrey were among the original members.
This organization had uo choveh edifiee until 1835, when it
erected a frame house at a cost of S500. 1t Las now o member.
ship of cighty-seven,

The organization al Montgomery’s Chapel was effected in
15872, by Rev, J. G. L. Mitcholl, with J. J. Montgomery and
wife, T. H. Quigley and wife, . MeClumahan nnd wite, Themas
West and wife, Linie and Fannic McClaunalian and Alice Quig-
ley.  In 18756 a frame chureh edifiee, costing about $500, was
erected on a site donated by J. J. Montgomery. This class has
twenty-six members.

The church at Lone Rock was organized in Angust, 1581, by
Rev. J. W. Bond, with Johu A, and Samantha H. Davis, David
and Louisa Marley, Jacob and Margaret Keller, Abijalh and
Barbara DBemnctt as constituent members. In 1854 a frame
churell Dbailding was erescted, at a cost of $400. The member.
ship is forty-five in number. Nearvly all tha miunisters that
have served as pastors of the Buifalo Cirenit have at other times
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served as pastors of the last three named churches. The present
pastor is Tiev. H. C. Allen.

Baptists—Pisgah Baptist Church was organized in August,
1841, by D. R. Murphy and J. It. Calloway, original members being
J. R. Calloway, D. R. Murphy, Carlos Deusenberry, Mary Ran-
dles, Dialtha Randles, Matilda Randles and Eliza J. Howerton, In
1842 this organization erected its first church building—a hewei
log house twenty feet square—at a point about eight miles south-
east from Buffalo, and in 1866 they changed ihe location wnd
evected another church house one and a halt miles sonth of
Long Lane. Tle pastors have been Revs. Jolm Liles, [sainh
Jameison, Samuel Job, Zade McDonald, John Williams, €. L.
Alezander, W. C. Edwards, G, B. Mitchell, James M. Jamos, 13
J. Bwith, J. H. Stinecipher, Z. J. Strickland, & W. Black, T
B. Carnett and William Cain, The membership at proseut is
seventy-four. This is believed to be the oldest Baptist organiza-
tion in the county, and heads the list of the churches of this Jde-
nomination.

The Macedenia Baptist Chureh was ovganized at Baffalo on
the 15th day of December, 1848, by BRevs. W. MeDomuell and
Jackson F. Oliver. Among the constitnent members wers Will-
iam Lovan, Hanuah Lovan, James Job Lovan, Levi i3eckner.
Sarah Beckner, Delila Beckner, James Peake, Thomas Bartin.
Haunah Martin, BEliza Robertson, Adam Stinebaugl, Drowry
Cook. Effa Cook, Mary Martin, Harriet Paine, Christina AMartin,
Jesse L. Paine, William Jolnson and John A. J. Lee.  This
soclety was organized as the Baffalo Baptist Chureh, and emi-
tinued to worship in the schiool-house and other rooms for a
series of years. In 1855 or 1854 it evected its first churel cdifics,
which was a cheap log building put up at a point about four
miles southeast of Buffalo, and abont one-fomarth of a mile south
of the Marshfield road, to which place the membership was ve-
moved. It still retained the name of Buffalo Baptist Chuveh,
From the outbreak of the Civil War, in 1861, until IXG5 the
church was dormant. On the 21th of October, 1866, it was re-
organized by Elders H. Eiatt and C. L. Alexander, and the
name was then changed from Buffalo to Macedonia, the uew con-
stituent members being Alexander and Samuel! Jones, E. B.
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Chapman, W. D. Cheek, Elizabeth Cheek, Rachel Jones, Ann
Edwards, Ellen Creck, Janette Hendrickson, Frances Hendrick-
son and BElizabeth Norton. The pastors that have served the
church are the following, in the order Lere named: Jackson F.
Oliver, William B. Senter, T. Pitts, G. B. Mitchell, William
Spillman, G. W, Williams, L. A Bmith, J. W. Fitch, George
Suter, J. R. Calloway, G. W. Kelley, W. W. Palmer, D. P,
Brockus, D. R. Jones and David Hitson. At this writing this
church has 104 members. The present edifice in which the
church worships is a frame buikling, which was erected in 1881,
at a cost of §1,000. Tt standson the Springfield road, four miles
south of Buflalo. This was the pioneer Baptist Clhureh in
Dallas County, and it Las accomplished much good. For its
history eredit is dae Mr. W. D. Cheek.

The present Batfalo Baptist Chureh was organized abount {he
year 18368 by Rav. (teorge B, Mitelell, with Willinm Liovan, M.
G. Lovan and wife, W. Hunt, William Joyner, Blizabeth Norton
and John Heuwdrickson. Abow a year later this organization
and the Methodists built a anion churels house in Buaifalo, at o
cost of about 81,600, and continued to use it as such uutil 1848,
when it sold its interest therein to the Methodists, ad oreeted
its present handsome il commodions brick edifice, 36x00) (ect
in sizo, at a cost of $L000, The new chureh was dedicated by
Rev. J. Hickman, of 8t. Louis. The pastors have been Goorge
B. Mitchell, B. MeCord Roberts, Jahn Robinson, Mark Harris,
Ben. L. Mitehell and John H. Stinecipher.. The membership of
this chnreh is about 100, and it is progressive in good works.

The Urbana Baptist Church was organized May 22, 1869,
by C, L. Alexander, witlh the tollowing constituent nembxars, vig, -
C. L. Alexander, John Cox, Rebecea Ross, Sarali Cox, Lonisa A\,
Campbell, Naney Davis, Shepard Starns, Adaline Starns, A. J.
Bullen, Susan R. Rataford, Thomas Hissom, Rebecea Miller,
Lucas Odel, George Spencer, J. X, Loafman, Saraly Hissem,
Rebecca Odell, Enoch Beck, Margavet Reynolds, Sophia Hol-
comb and Daniel D. Holcombh., This organization has wever
erected a church edifice. Its pastors have been C. .. Alexander,
A, J. Bullen, Mark Harris, W. . Palmer, D. R. Jones, David
Hitson and N, T. Stinecipher. The present membership s
twenty-seven.
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New Hope Baptist Church, in Grant Township, was organized
in 1880, by BElder G. B. Mitchell. It has been presided over by
varions ministers, David Hitson being its presont one.  With-
out full particulars concerning this organization, it is safe to say
that it has been successful in its labors, as it now has 160 mem-
bers.

Olive Baptist Churel, in Jasper Township, was organized 1
1870, by Elders Lawson, Scrivener and L W. Cranfill, with Wiil-
iam TF. Monday, John Williams, Sarah I, and Rachiel Medley
and others, to the number of ten, as constituent mewbers.  This
organization has had no exelusive church lLouse to this Jduate,
services having Dbeen conduneted in school-honses.  The houase
used now and for several years past is the distriet sehool-house,
owned jointly by the distriet and chureh.  Thix honse was dedi-
cated to the worship of God about the year 1530, by Elder John
H. Stinecipher. The pastors serving 1t have been John I,
Stinecipher, David Hitson, Z. T. Strickland, W. 1. Bpear, N, I
Stinecipher and G. M. Alexander. The membership of this con.
gregation is from twenty-six to thirty.

New Liberty Baptist Church, in Millor Township, was organ-
ized November 20, 1570, by Elder L. J. Tutww.  The fivst haild-
ing used by the organization was the school-house in Districi
No. 2. in Township 36, Range 10, ‘Fhe present building is «
frame, 18324 feet in size, built about the year 1880, jointly by
the same school distriet and chureh. Phe pastors serving this
congregation have been J. H. Stiuecipher, W. Y. Palmer, John
Smith, David Hitson, W. E. Spear and fiev. Jones. The prescut
membership numbers forty-nine.

Bethlehem Baptist Church was organized April 22, 1871, by
Elders William C. Edwards and L. A. Smith, with James M.
Lindsay, J. K. Brashears, James Randles, Permelia Wollard,
Sarah Randles, D. T. Randles, Matilda MeDonald, A. €, Wollarnd
and 8. E. Gann as members, The pastors serving this organi-
zation have been Willlam C. Edwards, four years; Z. L. Striek-
land, about five years; William Cain, two years; E. D. Fortner,
one year; (&, 'W. Pferfer, three years. The membership at pres-
ent numbers {wenty-zix.

Reynolds’ Chapel Baptist Church was organized in 1877, at
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the residence of the late I. D. Reyuolds, by the Rev. Albert
Ha.rris? with the following coustituent members: R. I, Reynolds,
Eliza Reyuolds, M. L. Reynolds, Sarah A. Reynolds, James May-
field, Martin MeGinnis, Harvey Suodgrase, Sarah Suodgrass,
Jane Huggins, Elizabotl: Dickinson, John Anderson, Margavet
Anderson, Mary Green, Hannal Reynolds, BMargaret J. Reynolds,
Asa Barnett and Jane Barnett. Of these James Mayfield and
Martin MeGinnis were chosen deacons and John T, Anderson
ehureh clerk.  The organization held their meetings in n school-
house until 1854, when the chiapal, which is 4 handsowe frame
edifice, BUNBO [eet, was erected, at o cost of $1,200. Tha site of
this chureh, consisting of two acres of land, together with two
acres for the cemetery adjoining, was donated by R. D. Reyuolils,
in whose honor the chureh was named.  The nammes of the |-
tors of this churcl, in the order they have officiated, ars as fol-
lows: Albert Flarveis, 11 P. Brockus, J. B, Palmer, Hollis Higl-
fill, Daniel DL Jones awd E. D, TFortner, the latter being the
present pastor. The organization couwsists of about sixty-five
members. The chapel stamds wpon a very beautifnl location,lsomp
Eour miles wost of Laftalo.

Lowishurg Baptist Church was organized August 23, 1835,
at Louisbury, by Blders J. H. Stirecipher, N. J. Stinecipler and
G. V. Alexander, with the following constituent mewbers: B,
Lindsey, It T Togg, BL L. Atehley. James B Acuff and Sisters
AL AL Linudsoy, M. AL Howe, 1 B Hayes, M. J. Lindsey, Mar.
garet Burger, Josophine Llyde, M. ¢ Karr and Nellie Lindsey.
Having no chureh wlifice, the meetings of this organization are
held in the lower room of the Loulsburg Acalemy building, Rev,
N. J. Btinecipher was the first and is the present pastor.  This
chureh at this writing has twenty-eight members, with nine more
approved for baptism. K. Lindsey is deacon, and C. O. Gammon,
clerk.

Bethel Baptist Chureh, at Independence, was organzed No-
vember 17, 1855, by Lev. G. . Sherman, missionary of Free-
dem Association, and Lev. Williao Cain, of Wehster County,
Mo, with Brothers W, €, Lindsey and John E. Cline, und Sisters
Mrs. N. J. Wollard, Liebecca Edmisson, Mattle Lindsey and
Margaret Randles, as constituent members. A frame church
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house, 506xb0 feet in size, and estimated to cost §700, is Deing
erected by this organization. It stands on the Conway roadl,
near the Big Niangua River, in Washington Township.  Rer.
William N. Cain is present pastor. This church has in the short
time of its existence attained a membership of forty. It has
regular preaching on the fonrth Sunday in each mouth, aud
prayer meeting every week. Levi C. Taylor is church clerlk.

Mount Zion Baptist Charch was organized in Angnst, 1871,
by Elders J. W, Fitch, Albart Harris, D. J. Morrow and Mark
Harris. Brothers D, 8. Bills, A. J, Scott, D. J. Morvow, J. H.
Strickland and W. C. Scott, and Sisters Rebacea HBtrickland, 7.
Scott, Faunie Bills, Mary J. Cowden, J. A. Cowden and Virginia
Scott were the constituent members. This organization, having
no churceh edifice, holds its meetings in the school-house.  The
pastors have been as follows, viz.: Jolin W. Titch, Mark Harvis,
Z. T. Swickland, 1874-75; D. 8. Bills, 1875-77; J. W. Fiteh.
1875055 W. K. Spear, 1578-81: David Hilson, 1881-82; T. §.
Scrivener, 1852-83; N. J. Stinecipher, 1833-85: David Hitsom,
1580-55: W. D. Cheek, 1858-89. At this writing the orgatiza-
tlon consists of fifty six members. The chwreh clerk is Josaph
Engle.

Mount Pleasant Baptist Chureh was organized in the tall of
1564, by Elders John W, Titeh and David Morrow, with Groon
Williams and wife, Sanford Creek, Murthy Creek, Joo! Guarner,
Martha Garner, Frank Wingo, Nathan MeDauiel, John Smith,
Lueinda Smith, Nehewiah Snith, Caroline Smith and Jal Will-
iams as constituent members. About the year 1870 this sueioty
erected their present frame church ediflee, at a cost of S400,
It is located in Township 33, Range 19, The pastors Lave
been J. W. Fitch, Rev. Bdwards, f. A, Smith, Daniel Bills,
J. H. Stinecipher, A. W. Kain, B. B. Carnett and 1. D. Fortuer.
The wembership is 102, The ordained deacons are John Bmith,
Williaw &, Houver, D. W. Beckner, . H. Morgan and Norris
Creek.  William E. Hoover was ordained minister August 26,
1588,

Christian Churches—Lindley Christian Chureh was infor-
meally organized by Elder Thaddeus 8. Tinsley, ou the first Sna-
day m May, 1878, with the following constituent members, viz.:
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T. 8. Tinsley and wife and daughter, Lydia, B. B. Fowler and
wife, Step Wise and wife, and John M, Wise, Two vears later
the membership had inereased to about thirty, and then a formal
organization was effected, and continued with only a glight in-
crease of membership until 1888, when, as a resalt of & revival
meeting of six Lord’s Days in June and July of that year, con-
ducted by Elder 1. 8. Tinsley, Jr., fifty-two members weve added
to the congregation, thirty-eight by confession and baptism, and
fourteen by statement, makivg a membership of eighty-four,
which continues about the same. The first meetings wers held
in the okl sehool-house, half a mile south of the present one,
subsequently at the residence of Flder T. 8. Tinsley, Sr., and
since the fall of 1847 the mectings have been hold in the new
school-honse, known as the Crescent, in School District No. 2,
Township 34, Range 20. The ervection of a chureh, in the near
future, is contemplated. The pastors have Leen T. 8. Tinsley,
Sr. and Jr., and H. B. and F. Fowler {(brothers). The chuvch is
the mstrument of mueh good work in the community.

Crainhill Christian Church was orgarized at the Crainhill
School-house in 1880, by Elder M. . Doane, with the following
constituent members, viz.;: J. W. Mcans and wife, Thomas Hutel-
inson, Samue! Hendrickson, Hiram Hendvickson and wite, Kliz.
abeth Gurduer, Willinm Garduer, Sarah A, Engle, Sister R. A.
Sneed, Willlam Sneed, H. 8. Jenkins and wite, T. M. Crain,
Naney J. Crain, Taylor Crain, Rlebeces Eugle, Joseph Engle
and Anna Engle.  This organization still continues to hold its
meetings in the school-house, which was buil by subseription,
with the understanding that it should be used for chureh as
well as for school purposes. At the organization of the church
J. W, Means was chosen elder, and Hiram Hendrickson deacown.
Later, C. F. Rush and H. 8. Jenking were appointed eldeis and
Samuel Hendrickson deacon. The membershipy is about fifty.

Pleasant Home Christiau Cliureh, on the Lebanon road, near
the eastern boundary of the county, was organized in 1854 Ly
Elder H. Rutter, with W. R. Brashears, James Robertson, Mar.
tha Robertson, George and M. L. Buchanan, W. W. Davidson,
Belle Riggs and Lillie Harmou as constituent members. This
congregation has a frame church in which it worships. The
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pastors have been . Rutter, James M. Teunison, John Bezonia,
Elder Fitch and Benjamin Powell. Other ministers frequently
preach for the congregation. The membership is 110.

The Buffalo Christian Churel was organized in July, 1885,
by W. H. Watson, district evangelist, with Richardson Wilkinson
and wife, John O'Bannon and wife, Smith Johnson and wife, B.
8. Browunlow, Mrs. Umphrey, J. N. Cline and wife, Asa Il Van-
derford and wife, John Vaunderford and wife, M. F. Vanderford
and wife, J. N, Vanderford and wife, T. J. Jones and wife and
others, to the number of about fifty, as constituent members.
The following year, 1885, the present large and comfortable frame
church edifice was erected, at & cost of about §2,000. The pasg-
tors officiating have been T. E. Shepherd, G. J. Cowan awl J, W,
Hopwood, the latter being the present one.  The membership is
about 200.

Mill Creek Christian Church was organized at Blill Creek
Januvary 20, 1389, by Elder Benjamin Towell, with R. C. Harrell
and Thomas Lowery as elders, G. W. Brakehill and I. W. Oshorn
as deacons, George W. Brakebill as clerk, and others to ihe
number of twelve as constituent members.  They worship in the
district school-house, and have a membership now of thirty-six.

Praivie Grove Christian Chureh, located in the sonthwest
part of Section B, Township 33, Range 20}, was organized in the
fall of 1865 by Elders Morgan Kelley and Lawson 1. Satterficld,
with the following members, viz.: TRobert W. Summers, Joseph
Gregg, John C. Roper, James Yates, David White, Hannah
White, Hannab Summers, Blizabeth Gregg and Jane Yates, wlo
still continue as members, besides others who uow liave their
membership at other places, among whom ave L. T. Satterfield,
Asa Vanderford, R. R. Wilkinson, John 8. Pendergraft, Carroll
J. Pendergraft, James Rafferty and many others. There are 200
names on the book. The church edifice belonging to this organ-
ization was erected in 18690, at a cost of about SLO0G. Tt is a
frame structure, 24x40 feet in size, and is seated with pews. It
was dedicated some time in the summer of 1869, by Elder Mor-
gan Kelley. The pastors have Leen Morgan Ielley, L. T. Sat-
terfield, Rev. Fisk, John Peundergraft, Col. Smith, J. J. Lane, J.
Baker, F. M. Coy, T. E. Shepard and Isare Bridges. Satterfield
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and Smith served two terms each. The membership now num-
bers ninety. This church was originally organized at the Kellay
School-house, one-foarth inile south of the present churel: edifice.
Two other churches, one at Halfway and one af Buffalo, Lave
been organized largely from the former membership of this one.

The Buffalo Presbylerian Church was organized May 14,
1568, by Rev. Martin, a raturned wigstonary t- Ching, and who
r>ted as the interpreter of the Durlington Treaty beiween the
United States and the Chinese Ewmpire, whereby trade between
these countries was opened up.  The ovganization was effected with
W. J. Montgomery, Mary E. Montgomery, Margaret MeDowell,
William Mc¢Dowell, Hannah MeDowell, William Bonner, Jane
Bonner, Br., Jane Bonner, Jv., Eliza Bouner, Valentine Douner
and A. F. McDowell as original nembers. The present neat and
comforiable frame church edifice belonging to this organization
was erected in 1872, at a cost of about §1,600, It is 30x45 feet
in size. The church has been supplied witl regular pastors as
follows, viz.: H. A. Tucker, 1872-74; L. J. Matthews, 1874-76;
George Bicknell, 1877-78; George F. Davis, 1880-84; James
L. Lafferty, 1886-&7; William McIlroy, 1887-88. H. R. Lewis,
the present pastor, began Lis labors in October, 1888, This or-
ganization has over sixty members, and it is the only one helong-
ing to the Presbyterian denomivation in the eounty.

Olhers.—The foregoing comprise about all of the church
organizations within Dallas County. All of the churches in Buf-
falo, and many of those in the county, especially at small villnges,
maintain Sunday-schools. There is also a church in Bufalo
composed of colored members.
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